
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Democratic Services, Democratic Services (01254) 

380116/380109/380184 
Email: memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Wednesday, 4 January 2023 

Page 1 of 3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Council 
 
Thursday, 12 January 2023 at 7.00 pm, 
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Councillor Abdul Khan (Mayor) in the Chair,  
Councillors Judith Addison, Dominik Allen, Josh Allen, Mohammad Ayub, Noordad Aziz, 
Scott Brerton, Peter Britcliffe, Danny Cassidy, Andrew Clegg, Jodi Clements, Loraine Cox, 
Paul Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP, Bernard Dawson MBE, Peter Edwards, Melissa Fisher, 
June Harrison, Marlene Haworth, Susan Hayes, Carole Haythornthwaite, Eamonn Higgins, 
Terry Hurn, Zak Khan, Sajid Mahmood, Patrick McGinley, Caroline Montague, 
Miles Parkinson OBE, Joyce Plummer, Kath Pratt, Paddy Short, Steven Smithson, Kate Walsh and 
Kimberley Whitehead 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1.   Apologies for absence   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Announcements   
 
a) Mayor 
b) Leader of the Council 
c) Chief Executive 
 

4.   Confirmation of Minutes  (Pages 5 - 20) 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 3 

 

 
To confirm as correct records the minutes of the recent Council meetings held on 3rd 
November and 1st December 2022. 
 

5.   Question Time   
 
To deal with any questions submitted under Council Procedure Rule A2.2(vi). 
 

6.   Appointments to Committees   
 
To consider and give effect to a request from the Labour Group for a change to the 
membership of the Planning Committee, to replace Councillor Jodi Clements with 
Councillor Kimberley Whitehead. 
 

7.   Minutes of Cabinet  (Pages 21 - 48) 
 
To receive the Minutes of the Cabinet meetings held on 30th November and 7th December 
2022 (attached). 
 
Rules of Debate 
 

 The Leader of the Council will move the Minutes, the Deputy Leader of the 
Council will second the Minutes. 

 Non-executive Members will be invited to make comment or ask questions on the 
Minutes (5 Minutes). 

 Cabinet Members will be invited to make comments and respond to any points 
raised (5 Minutes). 

 The Leader of the Council will be given up to 15 Minutes to respond and to 

 answer any questions raised. 
 

8.   Minutes of Committees  (Pages 49 - 70) 
 
To receive the Minutes of committees, as set out below: 
 
Rules of Debate 
 

 The Leader of the Council will introduce the Minutes as a whole. 

 Any Member may raise any issue from the Minutes; the Chair of the relevant 
Committee may respond (5 Minutes). 

 The Leader of the Council will close the debate (5 Minutes). 
 

Meeting (Municipal Year 2022/23) Date 

Standards Hearing Sub-Committee 20th October 2022 

Resources Overview & Scrutiny Committee 20th October 2022 

Cabinet (Street Naming) Committee 26th October 2022 

Planning Committee 1st November 2022 

Judicial Committee (Private Hire and Hackney Carriage 
Licensing) 

21st November 2022 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 14th December 2022 



 

Page 3 of 3 

 

Committee 
 

 
 
 

 
Chief Executive 
Scaitcliffe House, 
Ormerod Street, 
ACCRINGTON BB5 OPF 
 
Wednesday, 4 January 2023 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
COUNCIL 

 

 
Thursday, 3rd November, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Terry Hurn (Deputy Mayor in the Chair), Councillors 

Dominik Allen, Josh Allen, Noordad Aziz, Scott Brerton, Peter Britcliffe, 
Danny Cassidy, Andrew Clegg, Jodi Clements, Loraine Cox, Paul Cox, 
Munsif Dad BEM JP, Bernard Dawson MBE, Peter Edwards, 
Melissa Fisher, June Harrison, Marlene Haworth, Susan Hayes, 
Carole Haythornthwaite, Zak Khan, Sajid Mahmood, Patrick McGinley, 
Colin McKenzie, Caroline Montague, Miles Parkinson OBE, 
Joyce Plummer, Kath Pratt, Paddy Short, Steven Smithson and 
Kate Walsh 
 

Apologies: Councillors Judith Addison, Mohammad Ayub, Eamonn Higgins, 
Abdul Khan (Mayor) and Kimberley Whitehead 

  

 
176 Apologies for absence 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Abdul Khan (Mayor), 
Judith Addison, Mohammad Ayub, Eamonn Higgins and Kimberley Whitehead. 
 

177 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
Councillor Caroline Montague declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 10 – Motions 
Submitted on Notice (Motion 2 – Enhanced DBS Checks for Members), on the basis that 
she was employed by a DBS organisation which had a connection with Hyndburn. 
 
There were no dispensations notified. 
 

178 Announcements 
 
The Deputy Mayor made the following announcements: 
 
1) Civic Engagements 
 
In the absence of the Mayor, the Deputy Mayor had been busy attending a range of 
engagements both in and out of the Borough.  Some highlights included: 
 
• Sea Cadets Charity Dinner; 
• Lancashire Best Kept Village - Annual Awards Ceremony; 
• AGM of the Church & Oswaldtwistle Branch of the Royal British Legion; 
• Veterans in Communities AGM; and 
• Launch of the ‘Haworth Open’ Exhibition. 
 
The Deputy Mayor added that it was always a great pleasure and privilege to see the 
fabulous work undertaken by artisans, societies, charities and volunteers from across the 
region. 
 
2) Armistice Day and Remembrance Sunday 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

Councillors and members of the public were reminded that the Council would, as usual, be 
supporting events arranged by the Royal British Legion, local churches and community 
leaders to commemorate Armistice Day on 11th November and Remembrance Sunday on 
13th November.  Residents were advised to check the Council’s website and local media 
for the details of individual services across the Borough’s townships. 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, made the following announcements 
 
3) Market Chambers 
 
An expression of interest had been submitted comprising a bid of £5M in connection with 
the proposed Market Chambers Cultural Centre to the National Lottery Heritage Fund.  That 
organisation had written back to thank the Council for its interest, which was being 
considered further.  The Council had been invited to reply via the Portal with a Round 1 bid. 
 
4) Leisure Transformation Programme 
 
The Leisure Transformation Programme aimed to reduce inequalities in the Borough and to 
improve life expectancy.  It was estimated investment in the infrastructure could attract 
some 1 million additional visitors.  Under the Sport England Strategy an Offer Project Board 
would be created.  Hyndburn Leisure had been invited to apply for Sport England funding 
and a £2M bid was being developed, which would have several investment streams. 
 
Work was progressing on the various proposals, including developments at Wilson Playing 
Fields, Hyndburn Leisure Centre and Bank Mill House.  There would be a week long 
awareness campaign launched on 30th November 2022 with a public drop-in facility at 
Clayton-le Moors Community Centre.  There would then be a more formal public 
consultation stage. 
 
Overall, stakeholder groups were looking at up to 300 potential funding streams for 
investment into the Borough - some large-scale and some small. 
 
5) Local Plan 
 
The Proposed Submission Version Local Plan was currently out for public consultation until 
28 November 2022. 
 
6) Information Pack 
 
An information pack would be distributed after the meeting, which contained copies of the 
Hyndburn News magazine, a Warm Welcomes in Hyndburn poster (a list of warm-hub 
locations) and two Christmas Lights Switch-Ons posters. 
 
There were no announcements from the Chief Executive, Mr David Welsby, on this 
occasion. 
 

179 Confirmation of Minutes 
 
The Minutes of the Council meeting held on 22nd September 2022 were provided.  
 
Resolved - That the Minutes of the Council meeting held on 22nd 

September 2022 be approved as a correct record. 
 

180 Question Time 
 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
3 

The Deputy Mayor reported that two questions had been submitted under Agenda Item 5.  

He read out the questions as indicated below and responses were provided as shown: 

 

1) Allotments 

 

From: Councillor Kate Walsh 

To: the Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services (Councillor Steven Smithson) 

 

“With the waiting list for Allotments currently being over 600 people and the average waiting 

time 2.5 years, would it not be an opportunity for us as a Council to explore further sites for 

allotments such as the Council owned land on Walmsley St, Rishton, that was previously a 

park?  The Council have attempted to sell this for housing but the nearby church have a 

covenant on the land - this would make it an ideal site for allotments and would save a 

precious green space in the Borough.” 

 

Councillor Smithson agreed to look into Councillor Walsh’s suggestions and to keep her 

updated. 

 

2) Fuel Poverty 

 

From: Councillor Noordad Aziz 

To: the Leader of the Council (Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE) 

 

“Fuel poverty is a problem faced by households living on a low income in a home which 

cannot be kept warm at a reasonable cost.  The latest statistics show, Hyndburn has 15% 

of households living in fuel poverty and is in the higher proportion of areas in the country 

and above the England average of 13.6%.  

 

In Hyndburn, currently over 60% of houses are Band A properties and the vast majority of 

these are historic terraced streets that have minimum insulation compared to new builds 

and refurbished properties. 

 

Does the Leader of the Council acknowledge that: 

 

 The last Labour Government Housing Market Renewal policy transformed areas in 

Hyndburn like Accrington West kickstarting regeneration in that area; 

 

 The remnants of Housing Market Renewal funding also regenerated streets in 

Barnfield creating safer communities and homes? 

 

Does the Leader of the Council acknowledge that the Labour policy, under Keir Starmer, of 

retrofitting of housing over the next decade as part of a wide-ranging plan to tackle climate 

change has the potential to transform areas in Hyndburn and transform the historic terraced 

street with poorly insulated houses as well as it would save residents money on their 

energy bills?” 

 

The Leader provided a comprehensive reply to Councillor Aziz in which he cited the 

following existing initiatives to tackle fuel poverty: 

 

 The creation of the Net Zero Working Group; 

 Cosy Homes in Lancashire (CHIL) scheme; 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
4 

 Better Care Fund (BCF) grants to the Borough (delivered via Homewise); 

 Lancashire County Council grants to district councils, including Hyndburn; and 

 Onward Homes’ funding bid for a local improvement project. 
 

The Leader then invited Councillors Zak Khan and Caroline Montague to speak about their 

work as part of the Net Zero Working Group. 

 

Councillor Khan referred to: 

 

 A positive initial meeting with officers; 

 The proposed meeting with wider stakeholders; 

 The £¾M remaining in the Council’s Climate Emergency Contingency Fund; and 

 The Working Group’s recommendation to appoint a dedicated climate change and 
cost of living officer. 

 

Councillor Montague spoke about: 

 

 Recycling; 

 The green agenda; 

 Working with Prospects Foundation (a local environmental charity); and 

 The positive contribution of parks and green spaces to health and wellbeing. 
 

Councillor Noordad Aziz commented that many of these initiatives were only scratching the 

surface of the problem.  The Leader of the Council summed up by saying that housing 

regeneration was a priority for Lancashire and that there was cross-party support across all 

Lancashire authorities for improved housing.  The County as a whole remained committed 

to housing investment, whichever party was in power in Whitehall. 

 

Resolved - To note the questions submitted and answers 

provided. 

 

In response to a question raised about whether councillors should be permitted to use their 

mobile phones during the meeting, the Deputy Mayor ruled that silent operation was 

allowed because the use of electronic devices were being encouraged for paperless 

meetings.  In addition, the Member concerned had sought permission at the start of the 

meeting to film the proceedings. 

 
181 Appointment of Co-optees to Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

 
The Leader provided a report which included recommendations for the appointment of co-
opted members to the Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 
 
The Councils Constitution, Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule C2 stated: 
 
“Up to four members of the public may be appointed to each Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee as non-voting co-optees, if they are deemed to have relevant experience of 
matters falling within the remit of that Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
 

(i) Co-optees may be appointed following nomination by a councillor or following an 

application received directly from a member of the public.  

 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
5 

(ii) Applications received directly from the public will be considered first at the relevant 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Committee will consider the knowledge 

and experience of the applicant relevant to the terms of reference or work 

programme of the Committee. If the majority of the Overview and Scrutiny 

members support the appointment of the applicant, the proposed appointment 

will be presented to Council for approval. 

 
(iii) Nominations received from councillors will be presented to the Council for approval, 

if supported by the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. In 

reaching a decision, the Council will consider the knowledge and experience of 

the nominee relevant to the terms of reference or work programme of the 

Committee.” 

 
At the meeting on 19th May 2022, Council had approved the appointments of Ken Moss and 
Paul Barton (Resources); and Bernadette Parkinson and Jenny Molineux (Communities 
and Wellbeing) as scrutiny co-optees.  Alongside those appointed in the previous year, the 
current co-optees were as follows: 
 
  
Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 Doug Hayes 

 Stephen Button 

 Paul Barton 

 Ken Moss 

 
Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 Jean Battle 

 Paul Barton 

 Jenny Molineux 

 Bernadette Parkinson 

 
Special Scrutiny Committee 
 

 Vacancy x 2 

 
Shaheed Mahmood had been nominated as a co-optee for the Special Scrutiny Committee 
by the Chair of that Committee, Cllr Josh Allen.  Shaheed could not only provide a wealth of 
experience gained from his time as the Chamber of Trade president and an event 
organiser, but also bring with him the experience of a local businessman in the town centre 
and enthusiasm required for making the area a better place in which to live and work. 
 
The second nomination brought an exciting opportunity for the Council to engage young 
people in local democracy and decision making.  The Chair of the Special Scrutiny 
Committee, Councillor Josh Allen, was keen to nominate a local young person to be part of 
the Committee to bring a fresh outlook to scrutiny. 
 
Initial discussions had taken place with Ynot Aspire, who, based in Accrington, provided a 
range of projects and services aimed at young people.  Young people and their futures 
were at the heart of everything at Ynot Aspire, who had supported thousands of young 
people not in education, training or employment (NEET), those at risk of anti-social 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
6 

behaviour or entering the criminal justice system, and more recently prevention and early 
intervention around young people’s mental health. 
 
In September this year, Ynot Aspire would begin a project aimed at engaging young people 
in local policy and decision making, and would engage with a number of local charities and 
organisations.  This project would fit well with the aims of the Special Scrutiny Committee 
and the preference of the Chair to appoint a local young person as a co-optee. 
 
The nominee would be aged 16-21 and live in Hyndburn, and would be a part of Ynot 
Aspire’s new Youth Board.  They would be accompanied at Special Scrutiny Committee 
meetings by an Officer from Ynot Aspire. 
 
Under normal circumstances, Council would approve the appointment of a named 
individual, however, as the project at Ynot Aspire had just started and in order to have the 
co-optee placed on the Scrutiny Committee as soon as possible, it was requested that 
Council approve the nomination of an as yet un-identified individual. 
 
Councillor Josh Allen spoke to the report and thanked Ben Caulfield, Scrutiny and Policy 
Officer, for the support he had provided to the newly established Special Scrutiny 
Committee.  He highlighted the Committee’s ambition to co-opt a young person and the 
arrangements with Ynot Aspire described above.  Young people were the future of the 
community and even while at a young age could help to shape future policies.  He noted 
that Councillor Noordad Aziz had recently suggested the reintroduction of a local Youth 
Parliament. 
 
The Deputy Mayor indicated that Lancashire County Council already had young people 
sitting on some of its bodies.  Councillors Munsif Dad BEM JP and Noordad Aziz both 
spoke in favour of further engagement with young people.  It was acknowledged that they 
could bring a different perspective and fresh ideas to transform the Borough. 
 
Resolved (1) That Council approves the appointment of Shaheed 

Mahmood as co-optee to the Special Scrutiny 
Committee. 

 
(2) The Council approves the appointment of an as yet 

unidentified individual (A young person from Ynot 
Aspire) as co-optee to the Special Scrutiny 
Committee 

 
(3) That Council approves that the above appointments 

be made until the end of the 2023/24 Municipal Year. 
 

(4) That Council notes that, should the above 
appointments be approved, all Overview and 
Scrutiny co-optee positions are now filled. 

 
182 Revised Licensing Act 2003 Policy - 2022 - 2027 

 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report seeking 
approval to the Council’s revised Licensing Act 2003 Policy 2022 – 2027. 
 
Under section five of the Licensing Act 2003 the Council was required, as the Licensing 
Authority, to produce a Statement of Licensing Policy every five years.  The Policy set out 
how the Council had interpreted the Act and the basis on which decisions were to be made.  
 

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
7 

The existing Policy had come into force in July 2017 and it was now required to be updated. 
 
A summary of proposed changes was included in the report, highlighting changes to 
Paragraphs 6 and 30 and at Appendix D of the Policy. 
 
A consultation on the proposed revisions had taken place between April and June of this 
year.  The Draft Policy had been published on the Councils website and copies had been 
placed at public libraries and at the Town Hall in Accrington and at Scaitcliffe House.  
Letters had been sent to all stakeholders; all responsible authorities and to all senior 
Council Management, as well as voluntary organisations and groups.  No responses had 
been received. 
 
If adopted the revised Policy would be published on the Council’s website. 
 
Resolved - To approve the final draft of the revised Licensing 

Act 2003 Policy 2022 – 2027, as set out at Appendix 
1 to the report. 

 
183 Minutes of Cabinet 

 
The minutes of the meetings of Cabinet held on 21st September and 19th October 2022 
were submitted. 
 
In respect of minute 109 – Leisure Estate Investment Programme, Councillor Colin 
McKenzie expressed concern that of the 7 alternative sites proposed by residents for a new 
swimming pool in Great Harwood, only 3 had been considered further by the independent 
consultants.  He expressed the view that their conclusions were predictable and not 
supported by the evidence.  He commented that the report focused on the numbers of 
visitors who could reach Wilson Playing Fields by car in 20 minutes but ignored figures that 
showed a greater number of people who could walk to sites in Great Harwood in the same 
20 minutes.  Walking would support people to be more active and would also have the 
benefit of allowing them to access nearby shops to boost the local economy.  He asked the 
promoters to reconsider their decision.  Councillor Noordad Aziz added that the licence for 
the abattoir site had now been withdrawn which presented an opportunity for a gateway 
project into Great Harwood to be developed.in conjunction with the former gas holder site.  
Councillor Patrick McGinley asked if the anticipated costs of replacing the pavilion at Wilson 
Playing Fields were likely to escalate. 
 
The Leader responded that he appreciated that Great Harwood residents were passionate 
about the facilities there, which would be the case in any of the townships.  Arguments 
could be put for a variety of options, but the current proposals had previously received the 
support of the Chair of Hyndburn Leisure and the former Portfolio Holder as being in the 
best interests of Leisure Transformation.  The proposals had already led to an expression 
of interest for £2M being submitted for Sport England Funding.  The current vision was for a 
sports village development.  This contrasted with the visitor figures for Mercer Hall of some 
37 people per day.  Mercer Hall was a valued community asset, but a realistic decision 
about its future now needed to be taken.  There would be other investment opportunities for 
Mercer Hall and elsewhere in Great Harwood, such as at Bank Mill House.  On the question 
of the pavilion at Wilson Playing Fields, this building was no longer fit for purpose and its 
replacement as a stand-alone building, or as part of an overall sports village would be 
considered carefully.  
 
In connection with Minute 105 – Subsidised Pest Control Treatments, Councillor Noordad 
Aziz considered that the loss of the subsidy impacted most on the poorest in the Borough.  
He applauded the action of Councillors Scott Brerton and Colin McKenzie who had 

Page 11



 
 
 

 

 
8 

challenged this decision via the call-in process.  Their actions and consideration by the 
Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee had highlighted the 
availability of the Household Support Fund.  Councillor Paul Cox urged the Portfolio Holder 
to consider this matter from the perspective of residents, not just based on the financial 
arguments. 
 
The Leader indicated that the Overview and Scrutiny process had clarified that Household 
Support was available and that those in financial need could apply for the funding.  He 
reminded Members that the intention of the reduction in the subsidy was to improve 
response times, which were currently up to 5 weeks.  He noted that one neighbouring local 
authority had no pest control service at all. 
 
Regarding Minute 149 – Market Hall Rent Concessions, Councillor Paul Cox was pleased 
to note that the concessions introduced by the Labour group via himself and former 
councillor Clare Cleary were being extended.  The pandemic and current financial crisis had 
made it difficult for those starting out or carrying on a business.  The Cabinet report 
suggested that the concessions could not be made permanent, but now might be the right 
time to consider a fundamental review of rent levels to ensure that they were realistic  
 
In respect of Minute 108 – Hyndburn Selective Landlord Licensing Scheme, Councillor 
Bernard Dawson commented that there had been cross party support for this scheme when 
it had been introduced and that the scheme had been very successful.  It seemed a pity 
that the scheme could not be extended. 
 
The Leader commented that the scheme had been a popular initiative and, at one time, 
councillors had wanted to roll it out across the whole Borough.  However, there were 
adequate powers available under other legislation which would enable the Council to 
maintain the housing improvements already achieved by the scheme. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and noted. 
 

184 Minutes of Committees 
 
The Minutes of the following meetings were submitted: 
 

Meeting (Municipal Year 2022/23) Date 

Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 6th September 2022 

Planning Committee 7th September 2022 

Special Overview and Scrutiny Committee 27th September 2022 

Standards Committee 29th September 2022 

Management Review Committee 17th October 2022 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 19th October 2022 

 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and noted. 
 

185 Motion(s) submitted on Notice 
 
1) Paperless Council Meetings 

 
The following motion was proposed by Councillor Caroline Montague under Council 
Procedure Rule A9, which incorporated an alteration suggested by the Labour group to the 
original motion as set out in the Agenda papers.  The altered motion was seconded by 
Councillor Paddy Short: 

Page 12



 
 
 

 

 
9 

 
“That this Council continues to commit itself to be a paperless council and that councillors 
are encouraged to use electronic devices were possible.  
 
The benefits of being a paperless council are as follows:- 
 

1. Reduces the Carbon footprint 
2. Reduces landfill waste 
3. Saving the Trees 
4. Water conservation 
5. Deforestation to nature wildlife 
6. Contamination due to ink cartridges 
7. Officer's time. 

 
I believe we as Elected Councillors have a responsibility to lead by example in our 
communities fight against the Climate Change Emergency. 
 
Therefore, The Council Resolves to: 
 
Encourage all Councillors to use electronic agendas although we understand that paper 
copies will be required for those who have accessibility needs, but we would request that a 
full review be done as to the paper and ink that the Council is using: 
 

1. Recycled paper 
2. Paper purchased from a net zero company 
3. Eco friendly ink 
4. Ink purchased from a net zero company.” 

 
Councillor Short underlined the Green group’s commitment to work with all other political 
parties to achieve environmentally responsible improvements.  Councillor Munsif Dad BEM 
JP thanked Councillor Montague for accepting the alteration, which had been put forward 
by Councillor Walsh in the spirit of working together for the benefit of all. 
 
Councillors Josh Allen, Noordad Aziz, Patrick McGinley, Kate Walsh, Bernard Dawson, Zak 
Khan, Marlene Haworth and the Leader of the Council, as spoke in favour of the motion.  A 
range of opinions were expressed about the extent to which councillors should be 
encouraged or mandated to go paperless and there was an acknowledgment that for some 
individuals or in certain circumstances paper copies might be preferred or necessary.  The 
Leader commented that because Hyndburn was relatively small Council, Members had 
already committed to purchase their own electronic devices for Council business, rather 
than pass the cost on to Council Tax payers. 
 
Resolved - That this Council resolves to encourage all 

Councillors to use electronic agendas although it 
understands that paper copies will be required for 
those who have accessibility needs, but it requests 
that a full review be done as to the paper and ink 
that the Council is using, with consideration being 
given to: 

 
1. Recycled paper 
2. Paper purchased from a net zero company 
3. Eco friendly ink 
4. Ink purchased from a net zero company. 

 

Page 13



 
 
 

 

 
10 

2) Enhanced DBS Checks for Elected Members 

 
The following motion was proposed by Councillor Kate Walsh and seconded by Councillor 
Melissa Fisher under Council Procedure Rule A9: 
 
“This Council resolves to request the Executive Director - Legal and Democratic Services to 
look into the possibility of all elected members being required to have enhanced Disclosure 
and Barring Service (DBS) checks. 
 
For transparency the DBS checks will be published on the councillor’s profile on the 
Hyndburn Borough Council website.  
For example: “DBS Cleared”.” 
 
Councillor Walsh introduced the motion which was based on three main reasons: 
 

 The proposal at Agenda Item 6 to include a young person as a co-optee on the 

Special Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 

 Neighbouring councils already had arrangements in place for DBS checks; and 

 Residents often assumed that councillors had undergone DBS checks, given that 

councillors were sometimes invited into electors homes. 

 
Councillors Melissa Fisher and Munsif Dad BEM JP spoke in favour of the motion on the 
grounds of transparency and safeguarding considerations.  Councillors Patrick McGinley, 
Zak Khan, Miles Parkinson OBE, Danny Cassidy and Peter Britcliffe spoke against it, citing 
a number of difficulties including legislative issues, the lack of a universal qualifying need 
for all councillors to undergo a check, such as unsupervised contact with children and 
vulnerable groups, privacy issues and the ephemeral nature of any assurance given by the 
check. 
 
On being put to the vote the motion was LOST. 
 
3) Fracking in Hyndburn and Lancashire 

 
A motion had been submitted in the Agenda papers by Councillor Noordad Aziz, on 
Fracking in Hyndburn and Lancashire.  Councillor Aziz withdrew the motion at the meeting, 
on the grounds that the Government had now reversed its recent decision to lift the fracking 
ban. 
 
The Deputy Mayor thanked all for their attendance and advised Members that there would 
be a special meeting of the Council on 1 December 2022 to consider the revised proposals 
on the 2023 Parliamentary Boundary Review for Hyndburn. 
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
at which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 14



 

 
1 

 
COUNCIL 

 

 
Thursday, 1st December, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Abdul Khan (Mayor), Councillors Judith Addison, Josh Allen, 

Mohammad Ayub, Noordad Aziz, Scott Brerton, Peter Britcliffe, 
Danny Cassidy, Andrew Clegg, Loraine Cox, Paul Cox, 
Munsif Dad BEM JP, Bernard Dawson MBE, Peter Edwards, 
June Harrison, Marlene Haworth, Carole Haythornthwaite, Terry Hurn, 
Zak Khan, Sajid Mahmood, Colin McKenzie, Caroline Montague, 
Miles Parkinson OBE, Joyce Plummer, Kath Pratt, Paddy Short, 
Steven Smithson and Kate Walsh 
 

Apologies: Councillors Jodi Clements, Melissa Fisher, Susan Hayes, 
Patrick McGinley and Kimberley Whitehead 

  

 
203 Apologies for absence 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Jodi Clements, Melissa 
Fisher, Susan Hayes, Patrick McGinley and Kimberley Whitehead. 
 
Announcements 
 
The Mayor gave a brief summary of his recent visit to Kashmir, which he had thoroughly 
enjoyed.  The visit had centred on the Mirpur region and the Mayor had been accompanied 
by Councillors Mohammed Ayub, Noordad Aziz, Munsif Dad BEM JP and eight other 
people. 
 
The group had hoped to start the trip with a short stay in Islamabad, but this had not been 
possible due to political unrest.  However, the group were able to take in a number of their 
birthplaces and visit family.  On one memorable occasion, the Mayor was granted a civic 
reception, which including flower garlands, music provided by bagpipes and drums and 
mouth-watering dishes such as kebabs, samosas and fried fish.  The group also took in 
some breath-taking scenery at Mangla Lake.  As part of the trip, the Mayor visited some 
charity organisations, including KORT (Kashmir Orphans Relief Trust), which worked with 
orphans and under-privileged children, having been founded following a serious earthquake 
in the region in 2005. 
 
The trip included many more highlights which were too numerous to describe at tonight’s 
meeting. 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, commented that this must have 
been a very special trip for the Mayor and perhaps the highlight of his mayoral year to 
proudly represent Hyndburn within his heritage community.  A number of former Mayors 
had celebrated their achievements in a similar fashion. 
 
On another matter, all political groups had recently received a presentation from the Chief 
Executive and Chair of Hyndburn Leisure Trust about their Transformation Agenda.  A 
document was being circulated this evening which included a QR code to link providing 
further information.  The project represented investment of around £20m in leisure. 
 

Page 15



 
 
 

 

 
2 

He reported that he had also been away recently and the Deputy Leader of the Council had 
attended the Accrington Christmas Lights Switch-On in his place. 
 
Councillor Marlene Haworth, Deputy Leader of the Council, acknowledged that it had been 
a hectic couple of weeks.  Last Thursday and seen the Christmas Lights Switch-On 
followed by a fantastic firework display.  There were lots of people in the Town Centre to 
enjoy to the music and to watch the fireworks.  The event had been enhanced by the efforts 
of the Market Hall Team, who had done an excellent job.  The centrepiece of their display 
was the community Christmas tree, which had included the input of local schools who had 
made bauble decorations.  Hundreds of baubles had been sent in and the feature had really 
captured the imagination of local children.  Councillors were urged to see the tree for 
themselves.  Both the Market Hall Team and Amazing Accrington had done a phenomenal 
job to make this event such a success. 
 
Councillor Haworth also reported that Hyndburn Leisure had put together a series of 
‘Christmas on the Square’ events taking place every Saturday and Sunday until Christmas 
on Accrington Town Square.  A range of products and ‘winter wonderland’ themed activities 
were on offer each weekend. 
 
She undertook to write to all of the Teams involved to thank them on behalf of the Council. 
 

204 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no declarations of interest or dispensations notified on this occasion. 
 

205 Revised Proposals for the new Parliamentary Constituency Boundary Review 2023 
for Hyndburn 
 
Members considered a report of the Leader of the Council, Councillor Miles Parkinson 
OBE, which provided an update on the Parliamentary Boundary Review 2023.  The report 
notified Members of the latest proposals from the Boundary Commission for England (the 
Commission) concerning the Hyndburn constituency. 
 
The report indicated that the Boundary Commission for England (the Commission) was an 
independent and impartial non-departmental public body, which was responsible for 
reviewing Parliamentary constituency boundaries in England. 
 
Following the passing of the Parliamentary Constituencies Act 2020 in December 2020, and 
the publication of the relevant Parliamentary electorate data in January 2021, the 
Commission had begun a new review of all Parliamentary constituencies in England.  They 
referred to this as the ‘2023 Review’, as they were required to report with their final 
recommendations by 1st July 2023. 
 
The Commission had been undertaking an independent review of all constituencies in 
England since January 2021.  The number of electors within each constituency currently 
varied widely due to population changes since the last boundary review.  The 2023 
Boundary Review would rebalance the number of electors each MP represented, resulting 
in significant change to the existing constituency map.  Each constituency that the 
Commission recommended would have to contain no fewer than 69,724 Parliamentary 
electors, and no more than 77,062 (except two ‘protected’ constituencies for the Isle of 
Wight).  By law, these electorate figures related to the electorates as they were on 2nd 
March 2020. 
 
Applying the statutory formula to the electorate figures meant the total 650 constituencies 
were distributed during the review to the four parts of the UK, with England receiving 

Page 16



 
 
 

 

 
3 

543 seats, Scotland with 57, Wales with 32 and Northern Ireland with 18 seats.  This 
Commission had applied the same distribution formula to the English allocation, which 
resulted in the following redistribution of constituencies among the nine English regions for 
the 2023 Review. 
 

 East Midlands = 47 (increase of one) 

 Eastern = 61 (increase of three) 

 London = 75 (increase of two) 

 North East = 27 (decrease of two) 

 North West = 73 (decrease of two) 

 South East = 91 (increase of seven) 

 South West = 58 (increase of three) 

 West Midlands = 57 (decrease of two) 

 Yorkshire and the Humber = 54 (no change) 

 
The Commission had revised the composition of 32 of the 73 constituencies they had 
proposed in June 2021 for the North West, and maintained their initial proposals for the 
remainder.  They had revised the name of 17 of their initially proposed constituencies.  The 
Commission’s revised proposals would leave 13 existing constituencies in the North West 
region wholly unchanged, and five unchanged except to realign constituency boundaries 
with local government ward boundaries. 
 
As it was not always possible to allocate whole numbers of constituencies to individual 
counties, these were sometimes grouped into sub-regions, meaning some constituencies 
crossed county boundaries.  The Commission had explained, after consideration of the 
responses to the sub-regions in the initial proposals, that the revised proposals were based 
on unchanged sub-regions, as follows: Cumbria and Lancashire (allocated 20 
constituencies); Merseyside and Cheshire (allocated 26 constituencies); and Greater 
Manchester (allocated 27 constituencies).  30 constituencies would cross local authority 
boundaries (three more than the initial proposals): four would contain parts of more than 
two local authorities (the same as the initial proposals).  The Commission were proposing 
comprehensive change in both Cumbria and the south of Lancashire, having reflected on 
the evidence received in opposition to the initial proposals. 
 
Proposals for Hyndburn 
 
The latest proposal from the Commission indicated no changes to the Hyndburn 
Parliamentary Constituency boundary from the current version in operation, which included 
the two wards of Greenfield and Worsley wards from the Rossendale Borough Council 
area. 
 
All the way through the process the Commission had kept Hyndburn coterminous with 
100% of the district area within the parliamentary seat of Hyndburn whilst keeping its name 
Hyndburn.  The Commissioners might consider including Haslingden in the constituency 
name, reflecting on the fact that not all of the area was within the Borough of Hyndburn.  
 
The previous 2018 review recommended that Padiham wards were included in the 
Hyndburn constituency proposals, and the initial 2023 proposals included the three wards 

Page 17



 
 
 

 

 
4 

of Billington & Langho; East Whalley, Read & Simonstone; and Whalley & Painter Wood 
from the Ribble Valley constituency area to be included. 
 
Whilst there might be differing opinions regarding preferences of which additional wards 
should make up electorate numbers within the parliamentary seat, the Council followed and 
supported the Commission’s impartiality and understood that the seat required a certain 
number of voters to represent voter equality and tolerance levels and be within the 
Commission’s recommendations. 
 
The main Council’s objective was to support the proposal for keeping Hyndburn in one 
parliamentary constituency area and would like to thank the Commission for retaining the 
Hyndburn area. 
 
Final Consultation and Next Stage 
 
The Commission had published the latest proposals for constituencies across the country 
and opened a third and final month-long consultation on the new map of revised 
constituency proposals.  The Commission had taken into consideration over 45,000 
comments (over 400 responses referenced to Hyndburn) sent in by the public during the 
previous two stages of public consultation, and had changed nearly half of its initial 
proposals based on this feedback.  
 
The public were invited to view and comment on the new map at bcereviews.org.uk giving 
the public a last opportunity to send in their views before the 5th December 2022. 
 
After this final consultation the Commission would analyse the responses and form its final 
recommendations.  These would be submitted to Parliament by 1st July 2023.  This would 
be the end of the Commission’s involvement in the process. 
 
Within four months of the last of the four Commission’s submitting their report, the UK 
Government would have to prepare the Order that would bring all their recommendations 
into law.  Following recent changes, this Order no longer needed the approval of 
Parliament:  It was sent directly to the Privy Council.  If the Privy Council approved the 
Order, the new constituencies would be used at the next General Election following that. 
 
A copy of the recommendations of the Special Cabinet meeting of 30th November 2022 was 
circulated at the meeting. 
 
Councillor Parkinson reported that there had been unanimity across the Chamber on all 
previous occasions when this matter had been debated.   In particular, the view had been 
expressed that the Parliamentary constituency should be co-terminus with the Hyndburn 
Borough boundary.  This principle had been unchanged over the last decade or so. 
 
The proposals now before Council were the final recommendations of the Boundary 
Commission.  The proposals would retain 650 MPs’ seats across the UK.  The 
recommendation made no change to the existing Hyndburn parliamentary constituency.  
Throughout the review process different views had been expressed about the what other 
wards should be added, or taken away from the constituency. 
 
The Cabinet had discussed the proposals at its meeting yesterday and their 
recommendations were before the Council this evening.  The Commission had 
recommended the name Hyndburn County Constituency, but this did not include reference 
to the Haslingden wards.  Accordingly, the Cabinet’s recommendation to Council was that 
the Commission be asked to add ‘Haslingden’ to the constituency name.  The Leader 

Page 18

https://www.bcereviews.org.uk/


 
 
 

 

 
5 

hoped that all would welcome the proposals.  This would mean that the Borough would be 
served by a single MP. 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP agreed with most of what had been said.  He acknowledged 
that many Members had sent representations to the Boundary Commission.  He was glad 
that Hyndburn fell within a single constituency and this was supported by the Opposition 
group.  He also reported that there was agreement to the request to change the 
constituency name to ‘Hyndburn and Haslingden’, as this would be inclusive.  However, he 
was concerned that the residents of Haslingden might not have been consulted about this 
and might associate themselves more with Rossendale.  He considered that there were no 
links with Whalley as had appeared in the 2nd draft recommendations, or Padiham which 
had featured in the 1st draft.  There were, however, some links with Haslingden.  Councillor 
Noordad Aziz commented that former councillor Chris Reid, who had passed away in 2019, 
had been a strong supporter of the name ‘Hyndburn and Haslingden’ as long ago as the 
General Election in 2010. 
 
Councillor Parkinson was pleased that Members appeared to be in agreement about the 
proposals.  The Council would write to the Boundary Commission with its comments.  It was 
known that the Commission did not especially like long names, but the final decision would 
be a matter for them.  The whole review had been difficult task for the Commission to 
complete and comparisons were made to the difficulties experienced when the Borough’s 
own ward boundaries had to be reviewed.  Often people did not like change. 
 
Resolved (1) That Council notes the contents of the report on the 

Revised Proposals for the Parliamentary 
Constituency Boundary Review 2023 and adopts the 
recommendations of Cabinet on 30th November 
2022, as set out at (2) and (3) below. 

 
(2) That this Council supports the Commission’s 

proposal to keep the Borough of Hyndburn as one 
parliamentary constituency (including the two wards 
of Greenfield and Worsley from the Rossendale 
Borough Council area). 

 
(3) That this Council requests the Commission to 

consider the name ‘Hyndburn and Haslingden’ to 
formally recognise that part of the proposed 
constituency which is not within the Hyndburn 
Borough boundary. 

 
(4) That Council thanks the Commission for the 

opportunity to comment on their recommendations 
and for all their hard work in developing these 
proposals. 

 
David Welsby, the Chief Executive, reported that long-serving employee, Gordon Mason, 
was due to retire at the end of the month.  Gordon had served the Council for around 50 
years.  He had written personally to Mr Mason as Head of the Paid Service, but requested 
that the Mayor also write, on behalf of the whole Council, to express its best wishes. 
 
The Mayor thanked all for their attendance and advised Members that the next meeting 
would be held on 12th January 2023.  He wished all present a Merry Christmas and Happy 
New Year. 
 

Page 19



 
 
 

 

 
6 

 
 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
at which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 20



 

 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Wednesday, 30th November, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair), Councillors Peter Britcliffe, 

Marlene Haworth, Kath Pratt, Joyce Plummer and Steven Smithson 
 

In Attendance: Councillors Noordad Aziz, Munsif Dad BEM JP, Bernard Dawson MBE, 
June Harrison, Kate Walsh and Kimberley Whitehead 

  

 
200 Apologies for Absence 

 
There were no apologies for absence submitted on this occasion. 
 

201 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

202 Revised Proposals for the new Parliamentary Constituency Boundary Review 2023 
for Hyndburn 
 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, provided a report giving an 
update on the Parliamentary Boundary Review 2023, notifying members of the latest 
proposals from the Boundary Commission for England (the Commission) concerning the 
Hyndburn constituency.  The report sought the Cabinet’s view on the Commission’s latest 
proposals as part of the final stage of the consultation. 
 
Councillor Parkinson commented that throughout the review the Council had sought to 
maintain a Parliamentary constituency which was co-terminus with the Hyndburn Borough 
boundary.  The Commission’s proposals had reflected this principle at all previous 
consultation stages of the review and the Council had agreed this key aim on several 
occasions. 
 
The current document was the final draft and its recommendations were again out for 
formal consultation.  It was envisaged that the outcome would be in place by July 2023.  
The intention was to recommend Council to approval the current proposals and to request 
the Mayor to write a letter to the Commission on behalf of all Hyndburn councillors. 
 
One issue which had arisen was in respect of the proposed name of the constituency.  The 
review document suggested ‘Hyndburn County Constituency’, whereas there was some 
support for the name ‘Hyndburn and Haslingden’ to recognise that part of the constituency 
which was not located within the Borough boundary.  Councillor Peter Britcliffe spoke in 
favour of the proposals and the request to revise the name of the constituency.  He noted 
that the MP frequently referred to Hyndburn and Haslingden to ensure that Haslingden 
residents felt included in national debates.  He also expressed the view that the designation 
‘County Constituency’ was somewhat misleading. 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP welcomed the proposals in the Commission’s latest 
document.  He noted that everyone had had an opportunity to comment on the various 
proposals at each stage of the review.  It was pleasing to see that the Commission had 
decided to retain the existing constituency boundary.  Councillor Dad had not been jn 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

favour of the previous consultation version, which had included some wards from the Ribble 
Valley and had omitted Haslingden.  On balance, he supported the proposed name change.  
He reported that the former MP had also referred to Haslingden when speaking about the 
constituency.  Councillor Dad anticipated that Haslingden residents would appreciate being 
formally recognised. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The Boundary Commission for England (the Commission) was an independent and 

impartial non-departmental public body, which was responsible for reviewing Parliamentary 
constituency boundaries in England. 
 
Following the passing of the Parliamentary Constituencies Act 2020 in December 2020, and 
the publication of the relevant Parliamentary electorate data in January 2021, the 
Commission had begun a new review of all Parliamentary constituencies in England.  They 
referred to this as the ‘2023 Review’, as they were required to report with their final 
recommendations by 1st July 2023. 
 
The Commission had been undertaking an independent review of all constituencies in 
England since January 2021.  The number of electors within each constituency currently 
varied widely due to population changes since the last boundary review.  The 2023 
Boundary Review would rebalance the number of electors each MP represented, resulting 
in significant change to the existing constituency map.  Each constituency that the 
Commission recommended would have to contain no fewer than 69,724 Parliamentary 
electors, and no more than 77,062 (except two ‘protected’ constituencies for the Isle of 
Wight).  By law, these electorate figures related to the electorates as they were on 2nd 
March 2020. 
 
Applying the statutory formula to the electorate figures meant the total 650 constituencies 
were distributed during the review to the four parts of the UK, with England receiving 
543 seats, Scotland with 57, Wales with 32 and Northern Ireland with 18 seats.  This 
Commission had applied the same distribution formula to the English allocation, which 
resulted in the following redistribution of constituencies among the nine English regions for 
the 2023 Review. 
 

 East Midlands = 47 (increase of one) 

 Eastern = 61 (increase of three) 

 London = 75 (increase of two) 

 North East = 27 (decrease of two) 

 North West = 73 (decrease of two) 

 South East = 91 (increase of seven) 

 South West = 58 (increase of three) 

 West Midlands = 57 (decrease of two) 

 Yorkshire and the Humber = 54 (no change) 

 
The Commission had revised the composition of 32 of the 73 constituencies they had 
proposed in June 2021 for the North West, and maintained their initial proposals for the 
remainder.  They had revised the name of 17 of their initially proposed constituencies.  The 
Commission’s revised proposals would leave 13 existing constituencies in the North West 
region wholly unchanged, and five unchanged except to realign constituency boundaries 
with local government ward boundaries. 
 

Page 22



 
 
 

 

 
3 

As it was not always possible to allocate whole numbers of constituencies to individual 
counties, these were sometimes grouped into sub-regions, meaning some constituencies 
crossed county boundaries.  The Commission had explained, after consideration of the 
responses to the sub-regions in the initial proposals, that the revised proposals were based 
on unchanged sub-regions, as follows: Cumbria and Lancashire (allocated 20 
constituencies); Merseyside and Cheshire (allocated 26 constituencies); and Greater 
Manchester (allocated 27 constituencies).  30 constituencies would cross local authority 
boundaries (three more than the initial proposals): four would contain parts of more than 
two local authorities (the same as the initial proposals).  The Commission were proposing 
comprehensive change in both Cumbria and the south of Lancashire, having reflected on 
the evidence received in opposition to the initial proposals. 
 
Proposals for Hyndburn 
 
The latest proposal from the Commission indicated no changes to the Hyndburn 
Parliamentary Constituency boundary from the current version in operation, which included 
the two wards of Greenfield and Worsley wards from the Rossendale Borough Council 
area. 
 
All the way through the process the Commission had kept Hyndburn coterminous with 
100% of the district area within the parliamentary seat of Hyndburn whilst keeping its name 
Hyndburn.  The Commissioners might consider including Haslingden in the constituency 
name, reflecting on the fact that not all of the area was within the Borough of Hyndburn.  
 
The previous 2018 review recommended that Padiham wards were included in the 
Hyndburn constituency proposals, and the initial 2023 proposals included the three wards 
of Billington & Langho; East Whalley, Read & Simonstone; and Whalley & Painter Wood 
from the Ribble Valley constituency area to be included. 
 
Whilst there might be differing opinions regarding preferences of which additional wards 
should make up electorate numbers within the parliamentary seat, the Council followed and 
supported the Commission’s impartiality and understood that the seat required a certain 
number of voters to represent voter equality and tolerance levels and be within the 
Commission’s recommendations. 
 
The main Council’s objective was to support the proposal for keeping Hyndburn in one 
parliamentary constituency area and would like to thank the Commission for retaining the 
Hyndburn area. 
 
Final Consultation and Next Stage 
 
The Commission had published the latest proposals for constituencies across the country 
and opened a third and final month-long consultation on the new map of revised 
constituency proposals.  The Commission had taken into consideration over 45,000 
comments (over 400 responses referenced to Hyndburn) sent in by the public during the 
previous two stages of public consultation, and had changed nearly half of its initial 
proposals based on this feedback.  
 
The public were invited to view and comment on the new map at bcereviews.org.uk giving 
the public a last opportunity to send in their views before the 5th December 2022. 
 
After this final consultation the Commission would analyse the responses and form its final 
recommendations.  These would be submitted to Parliament by 1st July 2023.  This would 
be the end of the Commission’s involvement in the process. 
 

Page 23

https://www.bcereviews.org.uk/


 
 
 

 

 
4 

Within four months of the last of the four Commission’s submitting their report, the UK 
Government would have to prepare the Order that would bring all their recommendations 
into law.  Following recent changes, this Order no longer needed the approval of 
Parliament:  It was sent directly to the Privy Council.  If the Privy Council approved the 
Order, the new constituencies would be used at the next General Election following that. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Council was not compelled to respond to the consultation, however this was an 
opportunity for the Council to support the Boundary Commission for England  
 
The Commission would be particularly interested to hear from people about the extent to 
which the proposals reflected local ties in the area, and if people disagreed with the 
proposals, how they thought they should be amended.  
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet notes the contents of the report on the 

Revised Proposals for the Parliamentary 
Constituency Boundary Review 2023; 

 
(2) That Cabinet, having considered the Commission’s 

proposal to keep the Borough of Hyndburn as one 
parliamentary constituency (including the two wards 
of Greenfield and Worsley from the Rossendale 
Borough Council area), makes the following 
recommendation to the Council at its meeting on 1st 
December 2022: 

 
“That this Council supports the Commission’s 
proposal to keep the Borough of Hyndburn as 
one parliamentary constituency (including the 
two wards of Greenfield and Worsley from the 
Rossendale Borough Council area)”; 

 
(3) That Cabinet having considered the Commission’s 

proposed name for the constituency as Hyndburn 
CC (County Constituency) makes the following 
recommendation to the Council at its meeting on 1st 
December 2022: 

 
“That this Council requests the Commission to 
consider the name ‘Hyndburn and Haslingden’ to 
formally recognise that part of the proposed 
constituency which is not within the Hyndburn 
Borough boundary”; 

 
(4) That Cabinet thanks the Commission for the 

opportunity to comment on their recommendations 
and for all their hard work in developing these 
proposals. 

 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 

Page 24



 
 
 

 

 
5 

 
Chair of the meeting 

At which the minutes were confirmed 
 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Wednesday, 7th December, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair), Councillors Peter Britcliffe, 

Marlene Haworth, Joyce Plummer and Kath Pratt 
 

In Attendance: Councillors Noordad Aziz, Munsif Dad BEM JP, Bernard Dawson MBE 
and June Harrison 

  

Apologies: Councillor Steven Smithson 
 

 
207 Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Steven Smithson. 
 

208 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 
The following Agenda item was taken next at the meeting. 
 

209 Reports of Cabinet Members 
 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, announced that the authority 
had received confirmation of approval of Government funding from the UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund (UKSPF).  This was extremely good news and reflected well on the hard 
work of the various stakeholders and the MP.  The bottom-up approach to the bid had been 
led by the stakeholders and endorsed by the Council. 
 
A summary of the schemes to be funded was as follows: 
 
Business Support: Growth and New Business 
 

 Boost (business support) - £ 260k 

 Economic Development Function - £150k 

 International Trade Support - £40k 

 Tourism Attractions/Marketing - £20k 

 
[Sub Total 1 - £470k] 
 
Business Support:  Low Carbon 
 

 Business Support for Net Zero and Transition & Decarbonisation - £140K 

 New Low Carbon Technology - £110K 

 
[Sub Total 2 - £250K] 
 
Regeneration 
 

Page 27



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 Support the proposals to ‘Green’ the town centre and improve the Accrington Pals 

Memorial Garden - £560k 

 Offer £75k each to the Market Hall and Burtons Chambers as first-year 

incentive/promotion packages in advance of the buildings opening. - £150k 

 Support the Arts, Culture and Heritage package - £1.2465m comprising: 

o Arts, Culture & Heritage events budget - £250k 

o Marketing & Promotion £200k 

o Arts, Culture & Heritage Officer £125k 

o Events organiser & programmer consultant - £125k 

o Design and feasibility studies for Market Chambers Arts, Culture and 

Heritage Centre - £50k 

o Capital works budget for Market Chambers Arts, Culture and Heritage 

Centre - £470k 

o Business plan budget - £26.5k 

 Support the Arndale Masterplan - £150k 

 
[Sub Total 3 - £2,106.5k] 
 
The Council now eagerly awaited an announcement on the Levelling Up Fund bid. 
 
The Council’s political leadership had already announced that it would not need to raise 
Council Tax by the Government’s referendum limit of almost 5%.  Hyndburn’s Council Tax 
would be maintained at a 0% increase.  The Council understood the pressures on its 
residents caused by the rising cost of living, including increasing energy costs.  The Council 
Tax freeze could be attributed to strong financial management by the Portfolio Holder, 
Councillor Joyce Plummer and officers, including the Deputy Chief Executive, Joe McIntyre.  
In addition, there would be no increases to fees, such as those for the crematorium or 
waste services. 
 
Leisure Transformation was being rolled out across the Borough and aimed to help 
residents become more active.  Hyndburn Leisure were also seeking to maintain its 
charges at existing levels.  Therefore, the Council would provide the Trust with £235k in 
management fees to help it keep charges at the same level. 
 
The Russian invasion of Ukraine had precipitated the cost of living issue.  The Leader read 
aloud a statement provided by Councillor Paddy Short, which indicated that no end was yet 
in sight to that situation.  Councillor Short greatly appreciated and took pride in those in 
Hyndburn providing host homes.  A further small number of Ukrainians would arrive in the 
near future.  He thanked all organisations, such as the Council, Maundy Relief, the Food 
Pantry and Citizen’s Advice, who had all provided some form of support to refugees.  Many 
people had been helped into education or work.  A small number of Ukrainians had left host 
households by choice.  Any refugees who were being asked to leave homes would receive 
a full package of Council support and would be considered urgently for rehousing, either in 
a housing association tenancy or with a private landlord.  The Council would support any 
household threatened with homelessness. 
 
The Leader reiterated the three important announcements made regarding: 
 

 UK Shared Prosperity Fund success; 

 Council Tax freeze; and 

 Support for Ukrainian homes. 

 

Page 28



 
 
 

 

 
3 

Councillor Marlene Haworth, Deputy Leader of the Council, endorsed what had been said 
by the Leader and commented that the UKSPF outcome was excellent news and due to the 
hard work of all involved.  The Council’s political administration was committed to fulfilling 
its promises through restraining Council Tax and delivering on-going works to restore pride 
in the Borough. 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP commented that Ukrainians were being welcomed by all 
and he was pleased to see that the voluntary sector and Council were working hard to 
support them.  He also welcomed that news about UKSPF award worth up to £2.9m.  He 
had served on the Town Centre Board when the ideas were being put forward.  The money 
sounded like a large amount, but he was concerned that previous funding streams had 
provided more money in the past.  Councillor Dad hoped that the Council would be 
successful in receiving the other monies bid for.  He asked whether the funding to 
Hyndburn Leisure would be for 2023/24.  The Leader indicated that the funding announced 
was for the remainder of 2022/23. 
 
Councillor Peter Britcliffe commented that the UKSPF was new money released due to the 
UK’s decision to leave the EU.  He added that the Levelling Up Fund bid submitted was 
currently being considered and the Council was expecting to receive good news shortly, 
with millions of pounds coming into the Borough.  The investment showed what could be 
achieved when all politicians worked together. 
 
Councillor June Harrison recorded her thanks to the Council’s Finance Team, for their 
strong financial management. 
 
Resolved - That the verbal reports of Cabinet members be 

noted. 
 

210 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 19th October 2022 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
In respect of Minute 148 - Report of Cabinet Members (Local Plan) the Leader of the 
Council reminded Members that the Local Plan was currently out to consultation.  Public 
meetings had already taken place in the various townships, with a meeting in Huncoat due 
to be finalised soon.  The Plan was critical to the authority’s aspirations for growth and 
development.  The M65 had been constructed to bring economic development into East 
Lancashire.  Accordingly, the best sites for employment land in the Borough were located 
by the motorway at Junctions 6, 7 and 8.  He called upon Opposition Members to support 
the Plan, as employment sites provided local jobs and would lead to the economic 
prosperity of the area.  The Altham industrial estate site was important, along with a smaller 
site Rishton.  In the latter case, the green buffer between employment land at Whitebirk and 
the residential areas of Rishton would be maintained.  He was disappointed that there was 
some resistance to this proposal. 
 
In connection with Minute 152 – Medium Term Financial Strategy, the Leader reminded 
Members that there would be a rollover budget into 2023/24 to provide a period of financial 
certainty for managers. 
 
With regard to Minute 154 – Huncoat Garden Village, the bid for funding was progressing. 
This would be the Council’s main housing site for the duration of the Local Plan.  The land 
allocated comprised mostly of a former power station and colliery site, not Green Belt.  If 
this site were not to be used it would be difficult to identify other suitable housing land.  The 
proposals for the Garden Village included biodiversity improvements and energy efficient 

Page 29



 
 
 

 

 
4 

homes.  New houses would help to retain talent within the Borough and this approach to 
growth was similar to neighbouring Labour controlled councils, such as Blackburn with 
Darwen and Burnley.  This was a substantial and important development and not, as one 
commentator had described, ‘a vanity project’.  Residents in new dwellings would spend 
money in our towns.  The example of Lyndon Playing Fields, in Great Harwood, had shown 
that new housing helped to make high streets more viable.  Failure to build new homes 
would cause the area to stagnate, or even to slip backwards. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

211 Minutes of Committees, Boards, Panels and Working Groups 
 
The minutes of the following meeting were submitted: 
 

 Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) – 26th October 2022 

 
Councillor Peter Britcliffe commented that the proposals for street names in Great Harwood 
(Chimney Avenue and Saw Mill Close) were somewhat old fashioned, if not Dickensian.  
The replacement name of Reed Avenue, instead of Chimney Avenue, was an improvement. 
 
The Leader indicated that this development, off Britannia Street, in Great Harwood, and the 
Clayton Triangle scheme demonstrated the Council’s commitment to regenerating derelict 
mill sites.  He understood that people were sometimes reluctant to accept change, but if 
people were to look at old maps of Great Harwood, for example, they would see how the 
town has grown over the years.  There was a need to develop land sustainably and these 
two sites, which were not Green Belt land, had now been brought back into use.  For 
employment land, some Green Belt land would need to be allocated, as these were the 
sites adjacent to the motorway junctions 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP commented that Great Harwood did previously have a saw 
mill and the name selected by the Committee reflected this historical connection.  He also 
indicated his support for the site allocations approach, provided that these areas were in the 
right place with the right numbers of developments proposed.  Councillor Britcliffe asked 
Councillor Dad if he supported that Great Harwood development.  Councillor Dad indicated 
that he would respond to this at the appropriate time.  He noted that the detail of any 
development proposals would need to be considered by the Planning Committee. 
 
The Leader summed up by indicating that the moderate housing growth was planned for 
Hyndburn and that this was not considered to be excessive. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and noted. 
 

212 Identification of an External Project Director – LUF 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, 
seeking approval to waive the Council’s Contracts Procedure Rules to identify and appoint 
a suitably experienced consultant, who would act as the Council’s Project Director in 
delivering the Council’s Levelling Up Fund Interventions. 
 
Councillor Parkinson reminded Members that a decision on the Levelling Up Fund bid was 
still awaited, but it was necessary to put things in place now in order to progress any issues 
quickly.  Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP asked how long a traditional recruitment exercise 
might take.  He highlighted possible negative public perceptions about the waiving of 

Page 30



 
 
 

 

 
5 

Standing Orders.  Steve Riley, Executive Director Environmental Services, indicated that 
traditional recruitment might take up to 6 months.  It was necessary to recruit now in order 
to ‘hit the ground running’.  The Leader reiterated that all of the principal proposals had 
come from stakeholders using a bottom-up process.  The Council needed to be proactive 
and could not, therefore, delay recruitment of a Project Director.  David Welsby, Chief 
Executive, interjected, noting that the volume of projects planned was significant and there 
were high expectations around delivery.  Many were large scale projects and the timescales 
for delivery were very tight.  Government announcement dates around bids had been 
delayed, but the project completion dates had not been pushed back.  The Council was 
committed to delivery of these schemes.  He indicated that the public could be reassured if 
this explanation was made clear to them. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
A £20m funding bid into Round 2 of the Levelling Up Fund had been submitted at the end of 
August 2022 and the Government’s announcement on successful bids was likely to be 
made before the end of December 2022.  
 
The Levelling Up Fund spending timescales were extremely tight, with funding criteria 
requiring some capital spending to be made within the financial year 2022/23 and all 
spending to be completed by 31 March 2025.  Whilst there was a suggestion in the 
Levelling Up Grant (LUG) guidance that spending might be permitted within the financial 
year 2025/26, this was only in exceptional circumstances and at the sole discretion of the 
funding body, the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC).  It was 
therefore prudent to continue at risk with some elements of work before any announcement, 
where not doing so would most likely lead to unacceptable project delays. 
 
It was recognised that the Council did not have the specific knowledge or experienced staff 
‘in house’ to manage contractors and professional consultants on the delivery of such high 
value construction projects.  Many other local authorities were in the same position.  Round 
1 funding saw £1.7bn allocated to councils, a large proportion directed into the construction 
industry and further funding from Round 2 would lead to people with key project 
management skills becoming even more sought after. 
 
To ensure the Council had the opportunity to secure someone with the necessary skill set 
to take on this role, three external Project Directors had been identified as having the 
required skills, knowledge and experience, (two were individual consultants and the third 
was employed within a large consultancy organisation).  All had a track record of delivering 
successful large scale, (£20m+) construction related projects and understood the 
importance of delivering externally funded projects on time and to budget.  
 
Waiving the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules, would mean the Council could undertake 
the interview/selection process to identify a preferred project director before other Council’s 
in the NW commenced their search for project management support.  Following the 
announcement of the Council’s submission being successful, they could commence work 
quickly afterwards, which would avoid the longer timescales involved in waiting until the 
announcement was made before undertaking a far longer, formal tendering exercise.  
 
The Council would of course consider which proposal was the most advantageous and 
where there was any added value to the Council, which should ensure value for money.  In 
addition, the Council would be comparing three potential providers on cost and quality 
grounds, which should provide a necessary element of competition. 
 

Page 31



 
 
 

 

 
6 

Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
One option was to wait until the outcome of the Council’s submission and then undertake 
an open tender, but it was recommended that this be rejected.  This was because it was 
important that the search was undertaken quickly as the timescale for delivering all LUF 
interventions was extremely tight. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet agrees to waive the Contracts 

Procedure Rules and grants delegated authority to 
the Executive Director (Environment), following 
consultation with the Executive Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), to agree the terms of the 
agreement to appoint an external consultant who 
will act as the Council’s Project Director in 
delivering the Council’s Levelling Up Fund 
Interventions as set out in the report. 

 
213 Accrington Town Centre Parking 

 
The Cabinet considered a report of Councillor Marlene Haworth, Deputy Leader of the 
Council, which provided information relating to current arrangements for the Shoppers Car 
Park located at Abbey Street and Abbey Grange (Cross Street) in Accrington Town Centre 
so that Members could make a decision on whether to maintain or revoke the current three 

hour parking Traffic Regulation Order.  The report also provided information relating to the 

current situation of delivery vehicles entering the Broadway Shopping Pedestrian Zone 
(between Union Street and Cornhill) to enable Members to make a decision on whether to 
revoke the current Traffic Regulation Orders and employ a private parking enforcement 
company to regulate vehicle deliveries on Broadway. 
 
Councillor Haworth gave a verbal summary of the decisions proposed.  Councillor Munsif 
Dad BEM JP commented that he supported the proposed changes and that the car parking 
changes might help to increase footfall in the Town Centre.  Councillor Peter Britcliffe also 
welcomed the report.  He added that, at a meeting at Lancashire County Council on Friday, 
Members had asked if that authority would consider on-street parking restrictions to provide 
greater standardisation of the restrictions.  An increase of 2 to 3 hours parking might be 
better.  The County Council was also asked to review the one way system in Accrington 
Town Centre, which potentially had the effect of diverting all traffic away from the main retail 
area. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
Abbey Street and Abbey Grange (Cross Street) Car Parks 
 
Following the closure of the closure of the Blackburn Road car park for the new bus station, 
the Council now administered only two Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO’s) on car parks 
located on Abbey Street and Abbey Grange (Cross Street), Accrington.  The TRO’s limited 
parking to a maximum of 3 hours.  The Council employed parking enforcement officers from 
Ribble Valley Borough Council to carry out parking enforcement on the two car parks on 
one day per month. 
 
Any fines issued were then processed by an external company, Chipside.  The whole 
process was overseen by the Parking and Traffic Regulations Outside London (PATROL) 

Page 32



 
 
 

 

 
7 

joint committee.  All the above charged for their services and the Council did not profit from 
the outcome of enforcement. 
 
Due to the light touch procedure of enforcement on the two car parks, with a one day visit 
per month, this had shown to be confusing and frustrating to parking users.  Also, the 
administration of the parking restrictions, including enforcement, back office and appeals 
had to be dealt with, which was quite onerous and time consuming especially with the 
current strain on Council resources. 
 
It was for the reasons above it was recommend the TRO’s on the two car parks be revoked 
and the car parks be opened up to unrestricted all day parking, in line with all other Council 
owned car parks in the borough.  
 
If approved, the Council would need to make a request to Lancashire County Council for 
the removal of the TRO’s to be added to annual review of Traffic Regulation Orders for 
Lancashire.  Once the request had been approved and implemented, the contract 
agreements with Ribble Valley Borough Council, Chipside and PATROL would also be 
terminated without any costs incurred. 
 
The time from commencement to completion of the above would be approximately 12 
months. 
 
Broadway Traffic Regulation Orders 
 
Located at the Union Street entrance to Broadway there was Traffic Regulation Order with 
signage stating “Pedestrian Zone Except Emergency Vehicles”, the meaning of which was 
that no vehicles were allowed to pass the signs and enter the Broadway Pedestrian Zone at 
any time except for emergency vehicles. 
 
Located at the gateway adjacent to Cornhill on Broadway, there was a TRO with a sign 
stating “Pedestrian Zone Permit Holders Only for Loading and Unloading” the meaning of 
which was no vehicles were allowed to pass the sign and enter the Broadway Pedestrian 
Zone except for vehicles holding a permit issued by the Council. 
 
Not all shop units on Broadway had access to a rear service yard and therefore they did 
require vehicular access to the frontage for deliveries. 
 
A private company had been employed to carry out parking enforcement on Broadway and 
to regulate loading and unloading to shops restricting the time when loading and unloading 
could take place, to between the hours of 7am to 8.30am and 5.30pm to 7pm.  However, 
this had caused a contradiction.  In order for vehicles to load and unload on Broadway as 
per the private company signs, vehicles would need to pass the Traffic Regulation Order 
signs located at either end of the Broadway pedestrian zone, illegally contravening the 
Order.  The Council had asked the private company to stop enforcement until the situation 
was resolved. 
 
It was recommended that the Traffic Regulation Orders be revoked and the signs be 
removed.  This would be brought about by making a request to Lancashire County Council 
for the removal of the TRO’s to be added to annual review of Traffic Regulation Orders for 
Lancashire.  Once the request had been approved and implemented, the agreement with 
the private enforcement company would then be reinstated to carry out parking 
enforcement and regulate loading and unloading on Broadway.  The agreement with the 
private enforcement company was that it was at no cost to the Council as the company 
retained the income from any fines issued. 
 

Page 33



 
 
 

 

 
8 

The time from commencement to completion of the above would be approximately 12 
months. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
In respect of Car Park TRO’s, an Option considered was to do nothing.  The reason for 
rejection was the confusion and frustration to users leading to complaints. 
 
Regarding the Broadway TRO’s, an Option considered was to do nothing.  The reason for 
rejection was that retailers on Broadway would continue to drive delivery vehicles on to 
Broadway unregulated.  The TRO’s on Broadway were not being enforced by the Police. 
 
Resolved (1) That the current three hour parking limit Traffic 

Regulation Order on the Abbey Street and Abbey 
Grange (Cross Street) Car Parks be removed 
opening the car parks to unrestricted all day parking 
in line with all Council owned off street car parks. 

 
(2) That the current Traffic Regulation Orders effecting 

Broadway at the Union Street entrance and the 
gateway near Cornhill be removed and for a private 
parking enforcement company to be employed to 
regulate vehicle deliveries. 

 
214 Memorial Park Heritage Lottery Bid 

 
Members considered a report of Councillor Steven Smithson, Portfolio Holder for 
Environmental Services, informing the Cabinet of progress in relation to the National Lottery 
Heritage Fund (NLHF) funding bid relating to Memorial Park in Great Harwood. 
 
In the absence of Councillor Smithson, the Leader of the Council introduced the report.  
Councillor Miles Parkinson reported that the successful bid was good news for Great 
Harwood and for the Friends of Memorial Park who had been involved in an earlier 
unsuccessful bid for refurbishment of the park.  The Council was continuing to rejuvenate 
many of its parks.  This was the first phase for Memorial Park and additional opportunities 
for funding would be sought to regenerate the sports pavilion and to carry out levelling of 
the sports pitches.  The overall improvements to parks would help residents to become 
more active and would be delivered in conjunction with activity by local schools and the 
Council’s investment in other sports provision, such as tennis courts.  The Council 
remained committed to investing in Great Harwood, including the repurposing of Mercer 
Hall. 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP welcomed the report and noted that the current proposals 
built upon work by the previous political administration to make repairs to parks.  The 
Leader acknowledged that there had been good work undertaken to improve the Borough’s 
parks over the last 20 years. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
In 2008, the Parks & Cemetery Service had started working with the Friends of (FO) 
Memorial Park to explore the possibility of applying for funding administered via the 
National Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF) to refurbish Memorial Park in Great Harwood.  An 

Page 34



 
 
 

 

 
9 

initial bid had been submitted to the then Heritage Lottery Fund, but this had been 
unsuccessful. 
 
In 2021, the outcome of a consultation with the local community had showed that residents 
would like to see the refurbishment of park facilities, better use of the Biological Heritage 
Site (BHS) in the park, better access into the BHS, refurbishment of the war memorial and 
gardens, interpretation, sustainable horticultural improvements and footpath improvements. 
 
In addition to the refurbishment work, there was a desire to have more activities in the park 
post capital works to encourage participation and develop the audience of people who 
would use the park.  
 
Before submitting the NLHF bid, enquiries had been made with the NLHF and their 
preferred way forward was for the Council to work with a partner organisation who had the 
appropriate skills and abilities to enable a first class project to be delivered.  Proffitts CIC 
were a community interest company who had expertise in green space improvement 
projects and audience development. 
 
Cabinet had agreed on 21 March 2018 for the Council to work with Proffitts CIC to secure 
NLHF funding for Memorial Park in Great Harwood and had noted the proposal to appoint 
Proffitts as project manager should the funding bid be successful. 
 
The Council had received news that the NLHF funding bid relating to Memorial Park in 
Great Harwood had been successful.  The project had been allocated £248,650 for the 
delivery stage of the project by the HLF.  The total value of the project including funding 
from landfill tax and the Council, plus gift in kind work, was £338,650. 
 
The funding secured for this project would allow for: 
 
(i) Replacement of damaged boundary railings; 

(ii) Repairs to the war memorial and memorial grounds; 

(iii) Repairing stone tree pits; 

(iv) Tree management work; 

(v) Upgrading paths and installing boardwalks in the woodland; 

(vi) Installing bins/seating; 

(vii) Installation of bird box camera; 

(viii) A programme of activities and engagement with the local community. 

 
As Memorial Park in Great Harwood would be the beneficiary of the grant funding from 
NLHF, it had been agreed with NLHF that the Council would act as accountable body for 
the project because the Council as landowner and grant recipient would need to abide by 
their terms and conditions. 
 
Proffitts CIC were the applicant on behalf of the Council in relation to the successful NLHF 
funding bid and had detailed knowledge of the project.  To ensure consistency in the 
delivery phase it was proposed the Council should waive its Contract Procedure Rules to 
continue to work in partnership with Proffitts CIC to implement and complete the Project.  It 
had been agreed with NLHF that Proffitts CIC would act as project manager for the delivery 

Page 35



 
 
 

 

 
10 

phase of the project.  The costs relating to Proffitts CIC undertaking this work had been set 
and agreed with the NLHF and would fall within the overall project budget. 
 
The delivery stage work would commence on site once all permissions had been finalised 
and secured. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
Not to continue with the delivery stage of National Lottery Heritage Fund funding award and 
try to undertake improvements to Memorial Park via a piece meal approach.  This was not 
recommended, as grant funding had now been secured and this work could be undertaken 
as one project. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet: 
 

(1) Continues to support the refurbishment and 

improvement of Memorial Park as outlined in the 

report (“the Project”) and welcomes receipt of 

the National Lottery Heritage Funding. 

 
(2) Agrees to the Council being accountable body 

in respect of the Project and in accordance with 

the HLF’s terms and conditions in connection 

with the Project 

 
(3) Delegates authority to the Executive Director 

(Environment) to take all reasonable steps to 

implement and complete the Project, including 

entering into the necessary agreement with the 

NLHF, engaging consultants and contractors as 

required to deliver the Project and obtaining all 

necessary permissions and consents. 

 
(4) Recommends that the Council supports the 

Project and allocates £50,000 from the Council’s 

2023/24 capital programme as match funding, 

subject to approval of the Council’s budget for 

2023/24. 

 
(5) Agrees to waive the Contracts Procedure Rules 

and grants delegated authority to the Executive 

Director (Environment), following consultation 

with the Executive Director (Legal and 

Democratic Services), to agree the terms of the 

agreement to appoint Proffitts CIC as set out in 

Paragraph 3.10 of the report. 

 
215 Matters arising from Overview and Scrutiny - Town Centre Events 

 
The Cabinet considered a report of Councillor Susan Hayes, Vice-Chair of the Special 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, on the outcome of a recent scrutiny review of town 
centre events. 

Page 36



 
 
 

 

 
11 

 
The Leader of the Council outlined the recommendations set out in the review report.  
Councillor Marlene Haworth, Deputy Leader of the Council, welcomed the report, and 
indicated that she had attended the relevant meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  She reminded Members that a number of events had been laid on over the last 
few weeks in conjunction with the Leisure Trust, Market Hall and Amazing Accrington.  The 
Council’s partners had worked very hard to deliver quality events within the limitations of 
available staffing.  She thanked all who had contributed to these events. 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE reminded members that the Council would operate a 
rollover budget in 2023/24 and indicated that a letter was expected to be sent out before 
Christmas inviting bids for events in 2023.  The detailed submissions would be discussed in 
the New Year.  This activity would be complemented by the proposals in relation to the 
Hyndburn Culture & Heritage Investment Board included elsewhere on the Agenda.  The 
proposals would ensure that Hyndburn was an appealing place to visit.  The events formed 
part of an interlinked strategy which was supported by various stakeholders and the MP. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
At its meeting on 27th September 2022, the Special Overview and Scrutiny Committee had 
carried out an in-meeting review of Town Centre Events. 
 
The Portfolio Holder, Councillor Marlene Haworth and Victoria Tindall, Business and 
Marketing Co-ordinator had provided a report to the Committee.  The report had set out 
detailed information about the application process for events and for Council funding.  A 
breakdown of events funded by the Council had been provided for the last few years 
including some brief evaluation information. 
 
The Council had established a budget which provided funding for external organisations to 
organise events via an application process.  In order to be considered for funding, event 
applications were assessed against four primary objectives: 
 

 Increase visitors to the town centre (increase footfall); 

 Engage with people who live in and around Hyndburn; 

 Create an event which can engage with the widest possible audience; and 

 Demonstrate value for money and maximise the event outcomes. 

 
The Portfolio Holder had reported on capacity issues.  Some Councils had Town Teams 
which supported the organisation of events, with others having a larger team of officers.  
The Council’s current team was Ms Tindall plus an Events Coordinator, who supported over 
100 event applications right through the Events Safety Advisory Group (ESAG) process, 
which was resource intensive.  The Committee had agreed and suggested that Cabinet 
should review the current resources available to the team with a view to providing additional 
resources to increase their ability to support events further.  
 
The Committee had discussed the potential Levelling Up investment, and the potential that 
large scale events could have in attracting people back into the town centre.  The 
Committee was of the view that ensuring a well-resourced events programme was vital to 
this. 
 
Committee members had highlighted a need to better evaluate events funded by the 
Council.  More robust evaluations would give the Council a clearer picture of which events 

Page 37



 
 
 

 

 
12 

worked and which did not.  It was suggested that local education providers might have 
resource to support event evaluation, and the Portfolio Holder/Officer could make enquiries. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
Cabinet might choose to accept or reject any of the recommendations made by Scrutiny 
Committees 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet, accepts the recommendations of the 

Special Overview and Scrutiny Committee, arising 
from its review of Town Centre Events, and: 

 
(1) Agrees to consider providing additional 

resources to the Events Team to increase their 

capacity and ability to support events further. 

 
(2) Requests that the Portfolio Holder work with the 

Events Team to come up with ways to improve 

data collection and the evaluation of events 

funded by the Council. 

 

(3) Requests that the Portfolio Holder make contact 
with local colleges/education providers to 
support the above recommendation. 

 
216 Outcome of the Call-In of the Cabinet Decision - Subsidised Pest Control Treatments 

 
The Cabinet considered a report of Councillor Loraine Cox, Chair of the Communities and 
Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee, on the outcome of the Call-In of the following 
decision made by Cabinet on 21st September 2022. 
 
“That Cabinet agrees to reduce the subsidy to pest control treatments for rodents relating to 
domestic properties through a £30 appointment fee.” 
 
The Leader of the Council summarised the recommendations of the Communities and 
Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP welcomed 
the recommendation at Paragraph 2.2 of the report, which would enable those who could 
least afford it to be supported.  The Leader conformed that this fit in well with the Council’s 
proposal not to increase Council Tax and to highlight to residents what other support was 
available.  
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
At its meeting on 21st September 20222, Cabinet had considered an item on Subsidised 
Pest Control Treatments.  The report related specifically to issues with the waiting list for 
pest control treatments for rodents at domestic properties, currently at 5 weeks.  Cabinet 
had made the decision indicated above. 
 
In accordance with the Call-In procedure for Cabinet decisions, the procedure had been 
activated on 7th October 2022 by two members of the Communities and Wellbeing 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  The Call-In had been sponsored by Councillor Scott 
Brerton.  Several reasons had been given for the Call-In, full details of which were set out in 

Page 38



 
 
 

 

 
13 

the Call-In Form, which had been included with the agenda for the Committee on 19th 
October 2022. 
 
Councillor Scott Brerton had presented the reasons for the Call-In to the Committee.  
Councillor Steven Smithson, Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services had presented the 
reasons for the original decision, and had responded to some of the points made on the 
Call-In Form. 
 
The Chair had invited the Committee to ask questions of the Portfolio Holder, Sponsor of 
the Call-In and Officers in attendance.  The following issues had been discussed: 
 

 Councillors were aware that current waiting times were a problem, but asked what 

other methods could be used to reduce the waiting list other than implementing a 

charge; 

 Affordability of the payment, particularly during current economic times; 

 Public Health concerns; 

 Consultation with the public; 

 The rented sector and irresponsible landlords; 

 Environmental Health powers to deal with landlords who did not take responsibility 

for rodents in their domestic properties; 

 40% of pest control appointments resulted in no pest control work being carried out, 

mainly due to no access to properties; and 

 Plans to reduce the waiting time from 5 weeks to between 2 and 5 days if the 

decision was implemented. 

 
Councillors Scott Brerton and Steven Smithson had then been given the opportunity to sum 
up before the Committee made its decision. 
 
The Committee had discussed several options, including delaying the decision, or 
introducing alternative methods to reduce the number of no access appointments, such as 
phone call/text message reminders. 
 
The Household Support Fund had been brought into the discussion.  The fund was to 
provide support to vulnerable households in most need of support through the winter, and 
was managed by Hyndburn Leisure.  Round 3 of the fund was due to open in November 
2022 until the end of March 2023.  
 
The Chief Executive of Hyndburn Leisure had been in attendance at the meeting to report 
on the fund under a later agenda item, and was able to respond to questions from 
committee members on how the fund could be used to support vulnerable residents to 
access funds to cover the cost of pest control appointments.  It had been confirmed that 
referrals from Pest Control services would be eligible, should the resident meet the eligibility 
criteria of the fund. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Council’s Call-In procedure gave Scrutiny Committees three options when dealing with 
a Call-In decision: 

Page 39



 
 
 

 

 
14 

 

 To release the Cabinet decision in full for implementation; 

 To release the Cabinet decision in part for implementation, and refer the outstanding 

part of the decision back to the decision making body for reconsideration, setting out 

in writing the nature of its concerns; or 

 To refer the decision back to the decision making person or body for 

reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns.  The decision maker 

should then consider amending the decision or not, before adopting a final decision. 

 
Cabinet might choose to accept or reject the recommendations from the Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet notes the following resolutions of the 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee relating to the above decision: 

 
“(a) The Committee releases the Cabinet decision 

in part for implementation, and refers the 
outstanding part of the decision back to the 
decision making body for reconsideration, 
setting out in writing the nature of its 
concerns” 

 
(b) In reference to the above, and following the 

procedure for Call-In of Cabinet decisions, the 
Committee releases the implementation of a 
£30 appointment fee, but recommends: 

 
(i) That Cabinet sets up a suitable mechanism 

to refer those residents who cannot afford 

the £30 fee into the Household Support 

Fund, who can provide funding for those 

eligible to meet the costs; and 

 
(ii) That Cabinet reviews the impact of the 

decision in 12 months-time and reports 

back to the Communities and Wellbeing 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee.” 

 
(2) That Cabinet agrees to adopt the recommendations 

at (b)(i) and (ii) above. 
 

217 Outcome of the Call-In of the Cabinet Decision - Leisure Transformation Project: 
Consultant Appointment 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of Councillor Patrick McGinley, Chair of the Resources 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, on the outcome of the Call-In of the following decision 
made by Cabinet on 21st September 2022: 
 
“That Cabinet: 
 

 Agrees to appoint Hyndburn Leisure to provide consultancy services and advice to 

the Council in respect of the Leisure Transformation Project and associated projects 

Page 40



 
 
 

 

 
15 

(such as the UK Shared Prosperity Fund and the proposed Arts and Cultural 

Investment Board) on the terms set out in the report;  

 

 Agrees to waive the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules in respect of the proposed 

appointment for the reasons set out in the report; and  

 

 Delegates authority to the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic Services) to 

prepare and settle the terms of the deed of appointment of Hyndburn Leisure in 

respect of the above.” 

 
The Leader of the Council summarised the recommendations of the Resources Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
At its meeting on 21st September 20222, Cabinet had considered an item on Leisure 
Transformation Project: Consultant Appointment.  Cabinet had made the decision outlined 
in Paragraph 1.1 of the report. 
 
In accordance with the Call-In procedure for Cabinet decisions, the procedure had been 
activated on 7th October 2022 by two members of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  The Call-In had been sponsored by Councillor Scott Brerton.  Several reasons 
were given for the Call-In, full details of which were provided in the Call-In Form, which had 
been included with the agenda for the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 20th 
October 2022. 
 
Councillor Scott Brerton had presented the reasons for the Call-In to the Committee.  
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE had presented the reasons for the original decision, and 
responded to the points made on the Call-In Form. 
 
Committee members had submitted questions, with responses provided by Councillors 
Miles Parkinson OBE, Marlene Haworth and the Deputy Chief Executive. 
 
As part of the summing up process, outlined in the Council’s Call-In Procedure, Councillor 
Scott Brerton had recommended: 
 
“To refer the decision back to Cabinet for reconsideration, based on the reasons outlined in 
the Call-In Form” 
 
The recommendation had been seconded by Councillor Bernard Dawson.  The 
recommendation received only 2 votes, with 7 votes against. 
 
Therefore, the Chair recommended that having considered all the information provided to 
the Committee, to release the Cabinet decision in full for implementation.  The 
recommendation was seconded by Cllr Paddy Short and received 7 votes in favour. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Council’s Call-In procedure gave Scrutiny Committees three options when dealing with 
a Call-In decision: 
 

 To release the Cabinet decision in full for implementation; 

Page 41



 
 
 

 

 
16 

 To release the Cabinet decision in part for implementation, and refer the outstanding 

part of the decision back to the decision making body for reconsideration, setting out 

in writing the nature of its concerns; or 

 To refer the decision back to the decision making person or body for 

reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns.  The decision maker 

should then consider amending the decision or not, before adopting a final decision. 

 
Cabinet might choose to accept or reject the recommendations from the Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 
Resolved - Cabinet notes that, after consideration of the Call-In 

relating to the decision outlined in Paragraph 1.1 of 
the report, the Resources Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee releases the Cabinet decision in full for 
implementation. 

 
The following Agenda items were taken next at the meeting. 
 

218 Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 
 
The Cabinet considered a joint report of Councillors Kath Pratt, Portfolio Holder for Housing 
Health and Wellbeing and Steven Smithson, Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services on 
an updated Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy. 
 
Councillor Pratt commented that most private sector landlords provided a good service, but 
a small element did not meet the requisite standard.  The Council would be tough on those 
landlords and this Policy would help to drive the improvement of standards and define the 
remedial actions to be taken, if necessary.  The Policy explained the enforcement actions 
available and would let both the landlord and tenant know what to expect. 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP commented that the loss Selective Landlord Licensing 
Scheme meant that this Policy was needed. 
 
Councillor June Harrison asked what provision was in place to remove rubbish ether 
dumped by existing tenants, or left behind by tenants moving out of a property.  She also 
asked whether the landlord could be held responsible for its removal or be prosecuted.  
Mark Hoyle, Head of Regeneration and Housing responded that generally this would be a 
fly tipping issue, which would be dealt with by Waste Services.  However, a full written reply 
would be provided. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The last Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy had been approved in June 2017 and 
was due for review in June 2019.  Due to further changes in legislation since 2017, and the 
need to refresh and strengthen a range of enforcement options, it was proposed that the 
policy be updated. 
 
The primary purpose of the Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy was to ensure that:  
 

 Tenants of private landlords and registered social landlords live in homes that were 

free of unacceptable hazards and risks to their health and safety;  

Page 42



 
 
 

 

 
17 

 All houses in multiple occupation (HMO’s) were safe and well managed and all 

relevant management regulations were adhered to;  

 All licensable properties were licensed and all licensing conditions were met;  

 Private housing was not left empty for an unreasonable amount of time and/or 

became an eyesore and nuisance to neighbouring properties;  

 Privately owned property and land did not present a statutory nuisance to other land 

owners, and did not directly or indirectly present an unacceptable risk to public 

health, safety or the environment; and  

 The Council met its statutory obligations in relation to private housing. 

 
There had been a strengthening of legislation in a number of areas, including electrical 
safety and energy efficiency and this has been addressed in the Policy and Appendices. 
 
The Housing and Planning Act 2016 provided new powers for local housing authorities and 
the previous policy outlined these.  However, those powers had been developed since their 
introduction, and the revised policy reflected this. 
 
The updated Policy was attached to the report and included revised content relating to: 
calculation of financial penalties, civil penalty notices, enforcement fees and charges, 
smoke and carbon dioxide. 
 
There were other minor technical alterations to reflect wording and regulation changes by 
National Government. 
 
Overall, all of the changes would enhance the Council’s’ ability to enforce the relevant 
legislation and comply with its statutory duties. 
 
Enforcement and collection of fees at the proposed rate would provide income in 
accordance with services provided and should act as a deterrent to poor quality and “rogue" 
landlords. 
 
By law all fees recovered were ring fenced to Environmental Health’s Housing Standards 
budget and would be used, for example, to support the service, to improve service delivery 
and / or offer enhanced services. 
 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet: 

 
(1) Notes the report on the updated Private Sector 

Housing Enforcement Policy. 
 
(2) Approves the Private Sector Housing 

Enforcement Policy attached to the report and 
delegates authority to the Head of 
Environmental Health to make any necessary 
changes to the Policy to reflect future changes 
to legislation and case law. 

 
219 House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Policy 

 
Members received a joint report of Councillors Kath Pratt, Portfolio Holder for Housing 
Health and Wellbeing and Steven Smithson, Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services, 
which provided details of an updated House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Policy. 

Page 43



 
 
 

 

 
18 

 
Councillor Kath Pratt indicated that the report complemented the previous item on Private 
Sector Housing Enforcement and set out the policy framework and fees for HMOs.  The 
fees would be set to cover the licensing costs, application process, compliance monitoring 
and enforcement. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The existing House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) mandatory licence scheme had been 
reviewed and the range of properties now falling under the scheme had been extended.  
The report therefore recommended the setting of fees in line with the new regulations which 
required Cabinet approval. 
 
Selective Licencing which had designated parts of Accrington and Church for selective 
licensing was coming to an end on the 4th March 2023, and this updated policy 
strengthened the Council’s position to deal with non-compliance. 
 
The Housing Act 2004 introduced provision for licensing in the private rented sector (PRS) 
to raise standards in properties considered to present the highest risk to the health, safety 
and welfare of occupiers.  In 2006 the mandatory licensing regime for Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs) had come into force. 
 
The legislation prior to 1st October 2018 had required properties with 3 or more storeys and 
let to 5 or more people from 2 or more households who shared amenities (kitchens and 
bathrooms), to be licensed by the local authority. 
 
In December 2017 the Government announced that it would extend mandatory licensing of 
HMOs to cover all properties with 5 or more occupiers living in 2 or more households and 
sharing amenities, regardless of the number of storeys.  The necessary regulations had 
been brought into force in October 2018. 
 
The proposals would bring smaller privately rented properties into the licensing regime e.g. 
two storey shared terraced housing, as well as purpose built flats where there were up to 
two flats in the block and one or both of the flats were occupied by 5 or more persons in 2 
or more separate households.  This meant some shared flats above shops would need a 
licence as well as some small blocks of flats not connected to commercial premises. 
 
It would be the individual HMO that needed a licence and not the building within which the 
HMO was situated e.g. where a building had two flats and each was occupied by 5 persons 
living in 2 or more households, each flat would require a separate HMO licence. 
 
The benefits of extending HMO licensing included increased regulation of the private rented 
sector which should improve property condition and management standards through a cost 
recovery regime. 
 
Potential impacts included increased costs for landlords relating to the purchase of a 
licence and meeting property standards and management regulations.  Some landlords 
might also be required to reduce occupancy in their properties, if the property was found not 
to be suitable for the existing number of tenants. 
 
Section 63(3) of Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004 provided that a Local Housing Authority 
(LHA) might require an application for an HMO licence to be accompanied by a fee.  This 

Page 44



 
 
 

 

 
19 

fee was at the discretion of the LHA but should, according to Section 63(7), reflect the 
following: 
 

a) all costs incurred by the LHA in carrying out their functions under this part of the Act; 

and 

b) all costs incurred by them in carrying out their functions under Chapter 1 of Part 4 of 

the Housing Act 2004 in relation to HMO’s (insofar as they were not recoverable 

under, or by virtue of, any provisions of that chapter). 

 
As noted above the costs of implementing mandatory licensing would be covered by the 
licence fee, on an officer cost recovery basis. 
 
The fee charged by local authorities must be in two parts: 
 

 Part 1 for the consideration of an application and the determination of the 

application, and 

 Part 2 for the monitoring of the licensing scheme and housing conditions where a 

licence application had resulted in the granting of a licence. 

 
The model was based on a proposed fee of £790 for a new HMO licence application, 
inclusive and the processing of a licence (new or renewal) for either 2 or 5 years (including 
granting and rejecting the licence). 
 
The current level of mandatory HMO fee income did not cover the full cost of managing and 
operating the licensing scheme.  The recommendation within the report sought to address 
that issue. 
 
The Act permitted Councils to charge a fee that covered the costs incurred in carrying out 
the function of licensing HMOs, including the cost of promoting and effectively implementing 
the scheme.  The proposed fee for the HMO licence running costs, including compliance 
monitoring, inclusive of a full inspection visit on two occasions throughout the licence period 
for both 2 or 5 year periods was £440 (Appendix 1). 
 
Collecting fees at the proposed rates would provide income in accordance with services 
provided. 
 
Fees would be reviewed annually to better reflect any demand or cost savings. 
 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet: 
 

(1) Note the report on the updated House in Multiple 

Occupation Policy; and  

 
(2) Approves the Policy for immediate 

implementation and the associated fees and 

charges for implementation with effect from 1 

January 2023. 

 
220 Hyndburn Culture & Heritage Investment Board (CHIB) 

 

Page 45



 
 
 

 

 
20 

The Cabinet considered a report of Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council, 
on the draft terms of reference for the Hyndburn Culture & Heritage Investment Board 
(CHIB). 
 
The Leader reminded Members that this item was linked to the UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
announcement made earlier in the meeting, which would help the Borough to build on its 
heritage and bring events into the town.  A number of interested bodies had been brought 
together and terms of reference drafted for a Board which would develop an investment 
plan based on the needs of various groups.  The Council would remain the decision-making 
body for any investments proposed.  A ‘shadow’ Board was already in existence and was 
chaired by the Chief Executive of the Hyndburn Leisure. 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP asked if the Board would include councillor representatives.  
The Leader responded that the intention was to include stakeholders and volunteers with 
the relevant expertise.  Councillors would only be included if they could demonstrate that 
they provided added-value to the Board as constituted.  
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
Interested bodies had recently come together to discuss how they could support heritage 
and culture within Hyndburn and had produced proposals to formally establish a CHIB.  The 
report included Terms of Reference, which detailed the intended aims, structure and 
operation of the proposed Board. 
 
The CHIB would link to the Council’s aspirations and funding bids around Levelling Up and 
Town Centre improvement and was intended to enrich the whole Borough of Hyndburn.  It 
would develop a draft Cultural Investment Plan based on a consideration of the needs and 
aspirations of all groups, especially those who were currently excluded, for a variety of 
reasons, from cultural activities and the Plan would be presented to the Council for 
consideration and approval. 
 
The CHIB would make recommendations to the Council, who would remain the decision-
making body for any strategies and plans the CHIB brought forward.  The CHIB would 
support the Council’s work to develop and promote cultural / heritage activity in the Borough 
by helping to develop policy and suggested programmes and activities. 
 
A ‘shadow’ version of the CHIB had been set up already and this was currently chaired by 
the CEO of Hyndburn Leisure and included, besides relevant Council officers, 
representatives with expertise in the cultural and heritage landscape.  Board membership 
would be refreshed, or additional co-optees sought, based on specific or changing needs, 
having regard to the CHIB’s work programme. 
 
The CHIB would consider the best way to engage other stakeholders in its work, 
recognising that there were individuals and groups not represented on the Board who had 
much to offer and who were already engaged in cultural and heritage-based activity. 
 
There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet: 
 

(1) Approves the draft terms of reference for a 

Hyndburn Culture & Heritage Investment Board 

(CHIB), as set out at Appendix 1 to the report. 

Page 46



 
 
 

 

 
21 

 
(2) Delegates authority to the Council’s Chief 

Executive to agree or cease the membership of 

any individual appointee of the CHIB. 

 
221 Exclusion of the Public 

 
Resolved - That, in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the 

Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during the following item, when it was 
likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings that 
there would otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within the Paragraph at Schedule 12A of 
the Act specified at the item. 

 
222 Hippings Vale Community Centre, Owsaldtwistle 

 
Exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 3 – 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) 
 
The Cabinet received a report from Councillor Kath Pratt, Portfolio Holder for Housing, 
Health and Wellbeing, seeking authority to negotiate, agree terms and grant a proposed 
lease in respect of Hippings Vale Community Centre, Oswaldtwistle.  Councillor Pratt 
outlined the proposed decision and the reasons for it.  The Leader commented on the 
Council’s overall approach to repurposing its vacant buildings in order to bring them back 
into use.  Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP asked a question about the financial stability 
preferred bidder, which was answered by the Head of Regeneration and Housing. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the exempt 
report. 
 
Resolved - That the recommendations as set out in the exempt 

report be approved. 
 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 

Page 47



 
 
 

 

 
22 

 

Page 48



 

 
1 

 
HEARING SUB COMMITTEE 

 

 
Thursday, 20th October, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillors Noordad Aziz and Danny Cassidy 

Frank Whitehead – Independent Person 

  

  

 
158 Appointment of the Chair 

 
Members of the Committee were requested to appoint a Chair for the duration of the 
meeting.  The Committee nominated Mr. Frank Whitehead as Chair for the meeting. 
 
Resolved - That Mr. Frank Whitehead be appointed as Chair for the 

duration of the meeting.   
 

159 Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no apologies, substitutions, declarations of interest or dispensations declared at 
the meeting. 
 

160 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Hearing Sub-Committee held on 18th January 2022 were 
submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 

record. 
 

161 Exclusion of the Public 
 
Resolved - That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local 

Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during the following item, when it would be 
likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings, that 
there would otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within Paragraph 1 – Information relating to 
the individual, at Schedule 12A of the Act. 

 
162 Standards Investigation 

 
A report was submitted by the Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) to update 
the Hearing Sub-Committee about the progress of a recent standards investigation.  The 
complaint had been initially considered by the Council’s Assessment Panel, which had 
concluded that it should be referred for investigation and due to the nature of the complaint 
that it should be investigated by a third party.  The investigation was completed and the 
conclusion was submitted to the Committee who was requested to make a decision on 
whether the investigating Officer’s recommendation was accepted or whether to refer the 
matter for hearing by the Sub-Committee.   
 

Page 49

Agenda Item 8.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

The Committee considered that the complaint had been investigated thoroughly by the 
Investigating Officer, although reference was made to witnesses being given the 
opportunity to appear before the Committee to comment on the findings.   
 
The Committee made reference to the importance of ensuring that information relating to 
complaints remained confidential and the importance and consequences of any breaches to 
the Members Code of Conduct.  The Executive Director (Legal and Democratic Services) 
reported that efforts were being made to improve security of documentation by working with 
the Council’s ICT Section to improve better traceability.  Committee Members also 
suggested that Councillors were made aware of their responsibility in retaining the integrity 
of the Council and their commitment to the Code of Conduct.   
      
Resolved - That the Standards Hearing Sub-Committee found that 

the complaint had been thoroughly investigated and 
was satisfied with, and accepted, the Investigating 
Officer’s conclusion that there had been no breach of 
the Code of Conduct.   

 
 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 50



 
1 

 
RESOURCES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

 
Thursday, 20th October, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Patrick McGinley (in the Chair),  

Councillors Carole Haythornthwaite, Andrew Clegg, Paddy Short (Vice 
Chair), Dominik Allen, Scott Brerton, Terry Hurn and Loraine Cox 
 
 

In Attendance: Councillors Miles Parkinson and Marlene Haworth 

  

Apologies: Councillors Noordad Aziz and Doug Hayes and Ken Moss 
 

 
163 Apologies for absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
Apologies were submitted by Councillor Noordad Aziz, with Councillor Bernard Dawson 
substituting. 
 
There were no declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

164 Minutes of Last Meeting 
 
The minutes of the last meeting on 6th September 2022 were submitted and approved as a 
correct record. The following issues were raised: 
 

- Missing data relating to the market on the Performance Monitoring report. The Chair 
asked if the Officer had now received this data. The Committee were informed that a 
market update report would be submitted to the next meeting 

- The Chair referred to the number of prosecutions for fly tipping being zero, and 
asked how many penalty notices had been issued. The Officer informed the 
Committee that the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
would be scrutinizing fly tipping at the next meeting, and suggested that members of 
this committee could submit questions if they wished to do so. 

- The Chair referred to the suggestion of a Carbon reduction Officer post. The Leader 
informed the Committee that this was under discussion. 

  
Resolved        -           That the minutes from the Resources Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee meeting on 6th September 2022 be approved as a correct record. 
 

165 Call-In Procedure Note 
 
The Policy and Scrutiny Officer referred to the Call-in Procedure note, and explained how 
this would be followed for the next item on the agenda. 
 

166 Call in of Cabinet Decision - Leisure Transformation Project: Consultant 
Appointment 
 
The Chair welcomed those present at the meeting for this item. The Leader and Deputy 
Leader of the Council, Councillors Miles Parkinson and Marlene Haworth were present. The 
Deputy Chief Executive of the Council, Joe McIntyre, and Executive Director (Legal), Jane 
Ellis, were in attendance to provide support. 

Page 51



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 
As per the Council’s Call-In procedure, the Chair invited the sponsor of the call-in, Cllr 
Scott Brerton to explain the reasons for the call-in. 
  
Cllr Brerton presented the case, and highlighted that the main reasons were included on the 
call-in form. He said that he is supportive of Hyndburn Leisure and the services they 
provide, however, he sought clarity on the following issues: 
 

- Are Hyndburn Leisure the best provider to deliver this contract? 
- Is the Portfolio Holder confident that they have the relevant expertise? 
- Why were the Council’s contract procedure rules waived? 

 
The Leader of the Council responded. He highlighted that Hyndburn Leisure have an 
excellent record of providing consultancy services to the Council, particularly around the 
Hyndburn Hub and the Council’s response to the pandemic. He also highlighted the 
benefits of spending money locally were possible, with alternate providers likely to be out of 
town consultants who have never been to Hyndburn before. 
 
Cllr Brerton asked about the break clause in the contract should the current Chief Executive 
of Hyndburn Leisure leave. Jane Ellis explained that break clauses of this nature are very 
common. She was also clear that the Council are buying the expertise of the Chief 
Executive, therefore the break clause is in the Council’s best interests. 
 
Cllr Paddy Short said that he supports the decision. Hyndburn Leisure are well regarded by 
residents and provide excellent services beyond their typical leisure remit. He also said that 
he is pleased that the Council’s money is being spent locally. 
 
Cllr Carol Haythornthwaite said that Hyndburn Leisure built a fantastic network during the 
pandemic which is still thriving today, and she supports the decision. 
 
Cllr Bernard Dawson asked how conflicts of interest can be avoided with this decision. Joe 
McIntyre referred to the specifics of the contract. Hyndburn Leisure will be engaged in an 
advisory role only, they will not be taking decisions. Decisions will sit with the Deputy Chief 
Executive or with Cabinet when required. Decisions will be taken in the best interests of the 
Council. 
 
Cllr Andrew Clegg referred to the arts and cultural aspect of the contract. The Borough has 
a well-established Civic Arts Trust who could have a role to play with providing arts and 
culture based advice. The Leader responded that there will be a group formed and he 
hoped the Civic Arts Trust, and other organisations would be a part of the group. 
 
As per the Call-In Procedure, the Chair invited Cllr Scott Brerton to sum up. Cllr Brerton 
summarised his concerns, and recommended that due to the concerns outlined, the 
decision be referred back to Cabinet for reconsideration. The recommendation was 
seconded by Cllr Bernard Dawson. Two votes were in favour and seven against. 
 
The Chair therefore proposed that the decision be released in full for implementation. This 
was seconded by Cllr Paddy Short. Seven votes were in favour and two against. 
Resolved - To release the Cabinet decision in full for implementation. 
 

167 Revised work programme schedule 
 
The Chair invited the Policy and Scrutiny Officer to present this item. 
 

Page 52



 
 
 

 

 
3 

Ben Caulfield, explained that the Work Programme was approved by this committee at its 
meeting on 19th July 2022. The Work Programme requires some degree of flexibility with 
items often added in year or dates in which specific items will be scrutinised changed for 
various reasons including needs of the service or Councillor’s requests. 
 
The revised work programme is outlined in paragraph 3.9. 
 
The Chair informed the Committee that he wished to bring forward the item on Planning to 
the December meeting, and would push the item on transparency back to the March 
meeting to accommodate this. 
 
Resolved - That the changes to the work programme, outlined in paragraph 
3.9 with the addition of the Chair’s changes above be noted. 
 

168 Capital Programme 2022/23 - Accrington Stanley Community Trust Grant Funding 
Request 
 
Cllr Paddy Short stated a personal interest as he works closely with Accrington Stanley 
Community Trust in his role as Armed Forces Champion. The Policy and Scrutiny Officer 
advised that this did not exclude him from taking part in this item. 
 
The Chair welcomed the Leader of the Council, Cllr Miles Parkinson and the Deputy Chief 
Executive, Joe McIntyre to report on this item. 
 
The Leader explained the background to the grant, and how ASCT had taken over the 
running of Highams several years ago after the proposal to Council was accepted. ASCT 
have since transformed the site creating high quality facilities used by thousands of people, 
on a once underused site. The Council’s £250k grant from this years’ capital programme is 
helping to unlock a further £3 million in investment on the site from various sources. An 
excellent service is being provided to residents of the Borough, which would cost the 
Council its self significantly more than a one of capital investment to deliver. ASCT are 
helping the Council deliver physical and mental health improvements to residents, its sports 
development aims and providing local jobs. 
 
The Chair highlighted some concerns. He saw £250k as a large investment when some 
townships seemed to be receiving very little. The Leader responded that there had been 
investment, and there was future planned investment in many of the boroughs townships, 
providing several examples including Bank Mill House in Great Harwood.  
 
Committee members raised points on the following: 
 

- The benefit to the borough 
- Value for money 
- Success of the current facility 
- Improvements to car parking in the area 

 
Resolved - That the Committee supports the investment made and 
recognises the benefit to the community. 
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Page 53



 
 
 

 

 
4 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 54



 
1 

 
CABINET COMMITTEE (STREET NAMING) 

 

 
Wednesday, 26th October, 2022 

 
Present:  
 
 
In Attendance: 

Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair),  
Councillors Marlene Haworth and Kath Pratt 
 
Councillor Bernard Dawson (Observer) 
 

Apologies None 

  

 
169 Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 

There were no apologies for absence, substitutions, declarations of interest and 
dispensations.  
 

170 Minutes of the last Meeting 
 

The Minutes of the Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) meeting held on the 15th 

September 2021 were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved – That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct record.  
 

171 Street Naming Proposal - Britannia Street, Great Harwood 
 

The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report to seek approval 
for the naming of the following streets for a new-build residential development 
located off Britannia Street, Great Harwood with 53 dwellings.  
 
The street names proposed were: 

- Chimney Avenue  
- Saw Mill Close  

 
The suggested street names are related to the view of the existing mill chimney and 
the former site of the mill site named Saw Mill and the developer is keen to maintain 
the history of the site.  
 
The Committee Members had a discussion on the street names suggested and they 
agreed on Saw Mill Close only. Further discussions to take place regarding another 
street name as Chimney Avenue wasn’t accepted. 
 
Resolved – That the Street name Saw Mill Close agreed. 
 

- That the Committee agreed The Chair of Planning and 
Transportation receive delegated powers to name the second 
street in consultation with the Chair of the Committee and its 
Members. The Street name Reed Avenue was subsequently 
approved in consultation with the Chair and members of the 
Committee. 

Public Document Pack

Page 55



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 
 
 
 

172 Street Naming Proposal - Clayton Triangle, Whalley Road/Mill Entrance, Clayton le 
Moors 
 

 The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report to seek approval 
for the naming of the following streets for a new-build residential development 
located off Whalley Road/Mill Entrance, Clayton le Moors with 127 properties.   
 
The Street names proposed were: 

- Barge View 
- Navigation Avenue 
- Old Mill Way 
- Spindle Mews 
- Cotton Field Close  

 
And 2 apartment building names proposed were: 

- Canal Point 
- Cotton Quay  

 
The suggested names above reflect the history of the development site of the 
former Canal Mills/Soap Works and is also adjacent to the Leeds and Liverpool 
Canal. 
 
The Committee Members had a discussion on the Street names and felt the 
connection was very relevant. They agreed on Navigation Avenue, Old Mill Way, 
Spindle Mews, Cotton Field Close and Canal Point and Cotton Quay. Further 
discussions to take place as Barge View wasn’t accepted.  
 
Resolved – That the Street names Navigation Avenue, Old Mill Way, Spindle 

Mews, Cotton Field Close were agreed. 
 

- That the 2 Apartment buildings Canal Point View and Cotton 
Quay were agreed.  

 
- That the Committee agreed The Chair of Planning and 

Transportation receive delegated powers to name the remaining 
street in consultation with the Chair of the Committee and its 
Members. The Street name Widebeam View was subsequently 
approved in consultation with the Chair and members of the 
Committee. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 56



 
 
 

 

 
3 

 
Signed:…………………………………………… 

 
Date: …………….………………………………………… 

 
Chair of the meeting 

At which the minutes were confirmed 
 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58



 

 
1 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Tuesday, 1st November, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Eamonn Higgins (in the Chair), Councillors Loraine Cox, 

Paul Cox, Bernard Dawson, June Harrison, Susan Hayes, Terry Hurn, 
Zak Khan, Caroline Montague, Jodi Clements, Munsif Dad BEM JP, 
Danny Cassidy and Melissa Fisher 
 

Apologies: Councillors Judith Addison, Mohammad Ayub and Noordad Aziz 

  

 
173 Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted for Councillor Judith Addison, Councillor Noordad 
Aziz and Councillor Mohammed Ayub. 
 
The following acted as substitute representatives:  
 
Councillor Danny Cassidy for Councillor Judith Addison 
Councillor Melissa Fisher for Councillor Mohammed Ayub 
Councillor Munsif Dad for Councillor Noordad Aziz 
 
There were no Declarations of Interest or Dispensations declared at the meeting.  
 

174 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the Planning Committee held on 7th September 2022 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record.  
 
Resolved – That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct record. 
 

175 Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for Determination 
 

The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report setting out 
recommended action on the following Planning applications.  
 
3A. 11/22/0270 – 4 Richmond Crescent, Oswaldtwistle, BB1 3LU  
 
Erection of two storey side extension and single storey rear extension.  
 
Planning permission is sought for the erection of a two storey side extension and 
single storey rear extension. Materials would match that of the existing dwelling – 
facing brickwork and roof tiles.  
 
An update sheet was circulated at the meeting to ensure the provision of 
satisfactory facilities for the storage of refuse and recycling and in the interest of 
visual amenity to accord with Policy Env 7 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy and 
Policy DM26 of the Hyndburn Development Management DPD. 
 

Page 59



 
 
 

 

 
2 

Resolved – That the Planning application was approved with the attached 
conditions. 
 
 
3B. 11/22/0262 – 7 Beech Crescent, Altham West, Accrington, BB5 5EQ 
 
Change of use of existing dwelling house (Use Class C3) to children’s home (Class 
C2) to provide care for up to 4 No. children with associated facilities.  
 
The proposed children’s home will provide accommodation for a maximum of four 
children between the ages of 8 and 18 years with 24 hour adult support, provided 
on a shift basis. Externally, some alterations to the existing parking layout and 
arrangement will be introduced to enable the provision 4 or 5 parking spaces for the 
use of the staff and visitors.  
 
The Committee had a lengthy discussion on this application discussing the issues 
surrounding the application and the objections received. Councillor Bernard Dawson 
requested a site visit to look at the parking issues however, the Chair declined this 
as dependant on visiting times this would not give an accurate picture therefore a 
site visit wasn’t warranted.  
 
The Chair stated that all Members should take into consideration the experts 
recommendations and any information from Statutory bodies, which non of them 
had any objections.  
 
The Committee Members voted on the application and it was refused with a majority 
of 7 against the application and 6 approving the application.  
 
Resolved – That the Planning application be refused on the grounds that the 
applicant has not demonstrated that the proposed development will provide 
adequate off-street parking meaning that the proposed care home will result 
in congestion along the cul-de-sac and cars parking on the footways, contrary 
to Policy Env7 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy and Policy DM32 of the 
Hyndburn Development Management DPD.   
 
 
N.B. 1 Councillor Rennie Pinder spoke in objection of the application. 
 
2.  Sarah Holt, representative of local residents, spoke in objection of the 

application. 
 
3.  Mr Ziafat Ali, the applicant, spoke in favour of the application.  
 
 
3C. 11/22/0213 Former Bay Horse, 543 Manchester Road, Accrington  
 
Conversion and extension of former public house to form local convenience store.  
 

Page 60



 
 
 

 

 
3 

The proposal includes provision of associated parking and ancillary facilities. This 
application follows a previous application (Ref – 11/20/0443) which was refused in 
October 2021.  
 
An update sheet was circulated at the meeting to add an additional condition to the 
application to ensure that the public right of way can continue to be safely used and 
in accordance with Policy DM33 of the Hyndburn Development Management DPD.  
 
The Committee Members discussed the positive effect this would have on the 
village, good use of the building as it’s currently derelict and job creations. There will 
also be a new toucan signal-controlled crossing on Manchester Road along the 
frontage of the development site.  
 
Resolved – That the Planning application be approved with the attached 
conditions. 
 
NB. 1 Mr James Berggrem, representing the applicant, spoke in favour of the 
application.  
 
3D. 11/21/0237 From land off Bolton Avenue Huncoat to land near Pewitt Hall 
Farm, Back Lane, Accrington 
 

Proposed works for and use of replacement section of aqueduct, including 

earthworks and ancillary infrastructure including: a new valve house building within 

fenced compound with permanent vehicular access provision; installation of a 

tunnel shaft and an open cut connection area within a temporary construction 

compound, to include site access, storage areas, plant and machinery, drainage 

infrastructure and a temporary replacement football club car park. In addition, mine 

grouting works, with associated highway works, to facilitate main tunnelling works. 

 

The following points were noted: 

- Presentations to Members have taken place. 

- Community Consultations have taken place. 

- Huncoat FC to move to a football pitch in Great Harwood. 

- Community Liaison Officer to be recruited. 

- Some 24 hour working to take place. 

- Funding for a 2 year Highways Officer Post. 

- Additional 50 car parking for residents. 

- Proposals on reducing the speed limit on Burnley Road to 30mph. 

 

An update sheet was circulated in the meeting and 7 additional points relating to the 

draft conditions were discussed from Lancashire County Council. An additional 

condition had been requested from Hyndburn Borough Council to ensure that any 

damage arising to the bridge of Plantation Road over the duration of the 

development is made good.  

 

Page 61



 
 
 

 

 
4 

Resolved – That the Planning application is approved and that delegated 

authority is given to the Chair of Planning and Highways to complete the 

drafting of the conditions attached.  

 

NB. 1 Mr James Cullen, spoke on behalf of United Utilities, the applicant.  

 

2. Cllr Lorraine Cox requested contact details for the Highways Officer involved. 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Signed:…………………………………………… 

 
Date: …………….………………………………………… 

 
Chair of the meeting 

At which the minutes were confirmed 
 

 

Page 62



 

 
1 

 
JUDICIAL COMMITTEE (PRIVATE HIRE AND HACKNEY 

CARRIAGE LICENSING) 
 

 
Monday, 21st November, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Peter Britcliffe (in the Chair), Councillors Sajid Mahmood (Vice 

Chair), Bernard Dawson MBE, Loraine Cox and Susan Hayes 
 

Apologies Councillor Melissa Fisher 

  

 
186 Apologies for absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
An apology for absence was submitted on behalf of Councillor Melissa Fisher. 
 
There were no substitutions, declarations of interest or dispensations declared at the 
meeting. 
 

187 Minutes of Last Meetings 
 
The Minutes of the last meetings of the Judicial Committee (Private Hire and Hackney 
Carriage) held on 12th July 2022 and 25th July 2022 were submitted for approval as correct 
records. 
 
Resolved - That the minutes of the 12th July 2022 and 25th July 

2022 be received and approved as correct records. 
 

188 Judicial Committee Meetings Procedure 
 
The Licensing Procedure to be followed at the meeting in relation to Hackney Carriage and 
private hire driver’s licences was submitted.  A copy had been provided to the licence 
holder. 
 
Resolved - That the Procedure be noted. 
 
 

189 Licensing Guidelines 
 
The Institute of Licensing’s Guidelines for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trades was 
submitted, which was used to assist Hyndburn Borough Council when determining the 
suitability of applicants and licensees in the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire trades.  A 
copy of the Guidance had been sent to the licence holder. 
 
Resolved - That the Guidance be noted. 
 
 

190 Exclusion of the Public 
 
Resolved - That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local 

Government Act 1972, the public were excluded 
from the meeting during the following item, when it 
was likely, in view of the nature of the business to 

Page 63



 
 
 

 

 
2 

be transacted, or the nature of the proceedings, that 
there would otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within the Paragraphs at Schedule 12A 
of the Act, specified at the item. 

 
 

191 Report Relating to a Licensed Private Hire Driver 
 
Exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12, Paragraph 1 – 
Information relating to any individual) 
 
In accordance with the licensing procedure the driver, (ZH), had been 
invited to attend the meeting and was present and accompanied by his representative.  The 
complainant, an officer of Hyndburn Borough Council, had been invited and was present at 
the meeting. 
 
The Licensing Manager, on behalf of the Executive Director (Legal and Democratic 
Services), submitted a report informing the Committee of relevant information relating to the 
background of the complaint and other relevant matters.  Members were asked to consider 
the matters contained in the report and any representations made by the driver and the 
complainant.  The applicant’s previous history was summarised in paragraph 3.0 of the 
report.  
 
The driver and their representative replied to the issues that had led to the complaint, which 
the Committee took into consideration whilst making their decision.  The Committee raised 
concern that the CCTV monitor at the CVMU depot had not been operating and requested 
that this was reviewed. 
 
The Committee considered the issues raised in the report and the representations made at 
the meeting and came to the following decision. 
 
Decision of the Committee: 
 
Resolved             -    That, having taken into account the representations made to the 

Committee and the driver’s previous history and whilst 
recognising and commending that the driver had held a clean 
record since 2016, the Committee considered that the behaviour 
of the driver had not been consistent with that expected and as 
set out in the Council’s policy and, therefore, determined that 
there should be some consequence to the driver.  The driver’s 
private hire licence was, therefore, suspended for a period of 2 
weeks and the driver was warned that any future complaints 
could result in further sanctions.   

 
 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 

Page 64



 
 
 

 

 
3 

 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
COMMUNITIES AND WELLBEING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 

 
Wednesday, 14th December, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Loraine Cox (in the Chair),  

Councillors Dominik Allen, Sajid Mahmood (Vice Chair) and 
Colin McKenzie 
  
 

In Attendance: Councillors Steven Smithson and Kath Pratt 

  

Apologies: Jean Battle, Carole Haythornthwaite, Scott Brerton, Jenny Molineux and 
Bernadette Parkinson 
 

 
223 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

 
There were apologies from Councillors Carole Haythornthwaite and Scott Brerton. There 
were also apologies from Co-optees Jenny Molineux, Jean Battle and Bernadette 
Parkinson. 
 

224 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no Declerations of Interests or Dispensations. 
 

225 Minutes of Last Meeting 
 
To receive the Minutes of the meeting of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held on Wednesday 19th October 2022 for approval as a correct record. 
  
Recommended        -  That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 
record. 
 

226 Overview and Scrutiny Reports - Responses from Cabinet 
 
The Scrutiny and Policy Officer providd an update. When Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees submit reports or recommendations to Cabinet or Council, it is a requirement to 
report back the responses to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. This item 
relates to the decision regarding the Pest control subsidy and introduction of £30 charge for 
rodent calls, which was called into Scrutiny at the last meeting. The Committee 
recommended that the decision be released in part (introduction of a £30 charge) with the 
recommendation that Cabinet sets up a referral process into the Household support 
scheme for those that are unable to afford the fee, and that the scheme is reviewed in 12 
months. The recommendations were accepted by cabinet. 
 
Councillor McKenzie asked if the referal mechanism has now been set up. It was confirmed 
that this mechanism has now been set up. 
 
The Committee noted the report. 
 

Page 67



 
 
 

 

 
2 

227 Waste Services / Environmental Health Fly-tipping and Side Waste Enforcement 
 
Councillor Smithson submitted the report to the Committee. All information is detailed in the 
report. Councillor Smithson said he was open to take questions from the Committee. 
 
Councillor Cox asked about issues regarding the recruitment of an Enforcement Officer. 
Officers present explained the recruitment process, which included several rounds of 
advertising the post before the current successful recruitment, which is working well. 
Warning Letters and Fixed Penalty notices are now being issued more frequently when 
required due to the increased capacity in the service.  
 
Councillor Haythornthwaite asked if the service is advertising, as a deterrent, that 
enforcement work is being carried out. Councillor Smithson highlighted the recent direct 
mail and social media campaigns which had gone out which provided in depth information. 
In the new year, likely in February, we will be running a big campaign about disposing of 
waste properly, specifically to try and steer people away from using illegal skip companies. 
We will be developing this campaign alongside environment agency, fire and police 
communications leads. 
 
Councillor Cox asked if more information could be provided regarding enforcement on 
private land. Officers highlighted that enforcement on private land was carried out by the 
Environmental Health Department, and was a much slower process due to the service 
having to follow the correct legislation. 
 
The Committee noted the report. 
 

228 Parks and Open Spaces Report 
 
Councillor Smithson submitted the report. He stated that again, all information was included 
in the detailed report. He wished to mention a couple of highlights, including funding for 
improvements to the tennis courts at Oakhill Park and a recent successful heritage bid to 
improve Memorial Park. 
 
Councillor Smithson then responded to questions. Highams Playing Fields now sees an 
estimated 125,000 individual uses per year, compared with 5,000 in the year prior to ASCT 
taking over. They have also brought additional benefits to the site including employment 
and education opportunities. 
 
Councillor Cox asked for an update on KGV Playing Fields. Councillor Smithson said that 
this was not within his portfolio and should be submitted to the relevant portfolio holder. 
Councillor Cox asked for the question to be submitted through the next Resources 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee under the item Land Assets Update. 
 
Councillor Cox asked if there were plans to increase grass cutting to include informal areas 
of land which were previously cut by the Council. Councillor Smithson answered that at 
present there were no such plans. 
 
Questions were also asked relating to the maintenance/cutting on private land. Officers 
answered that this would be dealt with as an enforcement issue, but there is often difficulty 
establishing the owner of some areas of land, with even the land registry not holding some 
records. 
 
Councillor Kath Pratt, who was in attendance at the meeting asked permission to make a 
statement on the subject matter. She gave the following statement. 
 

Page 68



 
 
 

 

 
3 

“Baxenden Recreation Ground is the only area in Baxenden Ward where outdoor sports 
can be done.  Unfortunately, the ground floods and is very uneven.  No investment has 
been made in this area, either on the MUGA, which hasn’t had any, or very little TLC or 
investment spent on it since it was erected quite a few years ago. 
Further to this, the children’s play area, which was situated on Back Lane, was closed down 
several years ago without any investment in a ward that is very built up, leaving nowhere for 
young children to play.  Manchester Road acts as a river, splitting the ward in half and even 
with crossings erected, it is still very dangerous for young children to play across the other 
side of Manchester Road.   
We talk of trying to prise children from their laptops and to play outside, but where do they 
play in safety when facilities are closed down? 
I would request that Cabinet is asked if they would rescind the order to build houses on the 
Back Lane play area and reinstate a play area there.” 
 
The Chair thanked Councillor Pratt for the statement and said this would be reflected in the 
minutes. 
 

229 Citizens Advice Hyndburn Report 
 
The Chair welcomed David Olgaza, Chief Executive of Citizens Advice Rossendale and 
Hyndburn alongside Nick Pilling, Chair of Trustees, who were invited to present this item. 
 
People’s health, education, work and social lives have been affected in ways we could 
never have imagined before COVID-19 and the current cost of living crisis. The Citizens 
Advice service is a charity and has delivered independent and impartial advice for over 80 
years. They’re at the forefront of advice delivery. The Citizens Advice service across 
Hyndburn has highly-trained, professional and experienced advisers assisted by trained 
volunteers, available to help with any issue, whoever you are and whatever your problem. 
They also have many specialist caseworkers who can provide information, signposting and 
complex casework in Welfare Benefits, Energy, Money & Debt, and Housing. 
 
They remain located in the New Era centre on Paradise Street and receive a grant from 
Hyndburn Council of £25,000 per year. This enables them to leverage further funding from: 
 
The National Lottery for dealing with clients in a crisis  
Energy companies for energy related advice to reduce usage and energy debt  
Henry Smith Foundation funding for homeless prevention advice  
Money and Pensions Service for debt and money advice 
 
Advice was given to 1577 Hyndburn residents in the past 12 months and over 1800 
Hyndburn residents were unable to contact us via telephone this year due to 
unprecedented demand for the service and lack of paid advisors due to a lack of funding. 
Volunteers also work on our advice line but the cost of recruiting, training and supervising a 
volunteer is over £1,000 each. They have a volunteer team of 20 volunteers and 12 full time 
paid advice staff across Rossendale and Hyndburn. Energy related queries followed by 
debt and personal independence payments were the Top 3 enquiry issues since October 
2022. They have had the highest ever number of people contacting us for Charitable 
Support and Food Bank assistance with a 50% increase since 2021. 
 
In addition to the grant from Hyndburn Council, Rossendale Council provides a grant of 
£35,000 per year, pays for an additional part time specialist debt advisor for Rossendale 
residents and provides offices in Bacup for a peppercorn rent of £1 a year. 
 
The following achievements were highlighted: 
 

Page 69



 
 
 

 

 
4 

1477 Hyndburn Residents Advised (1800 Rossendale) 
Benefit gains - over £200,000 of additional income brought into Hyndburn via new benefit 
claims, winning appeals, successfully challenging decisions 
Debts written off via insolvency options - £209,952 
Debt Repayments rescheduled - £88,765 
Social Value - For every £1 invested in Citizens Advice, we’ve delivered over £14 in public 
value, through economic and social benefits. We save government and public services 
money by helping stop problems occurring or escalating, we reduce pressure on public 
services like health, housing or out-of-work benefits. 
We launched a dedicated food and fuel voucher line on the 3rd of October 2022 and have 
received over 1000 calls so far across Hyndburn & Rossendale in just 2 months 
 
David and Nick responded to questions from the committee. 
 
The Chair asked about capacity of the service to deal with all cases. David responded that 
they estimate that they are only able to answer 20% of calls received. Cllr Haythornthwaite 
asked who deals with the unmet demand. Nick responded that some calls will go through to 
the National Citizens Advice service whilst some people will choose to contact other 
services available in Hyndburn. 
 
Councillor Mahmood asked where the majority of cases in Hyndburn comes from. David 
responded that Barnfield, Springhill, St Andrews and Peel Wards had the highest number of 
cases in Hyndburn.  
 
The Chair asked if the £25,000 grant from Hyndburn Borough Council was under a long 
term contract. David responded that this was a rolling annual contract. 
 
The Chair thanked David and Nick for the vital service offered to Hyndburn residents, and 
proposed recommendations to Cabinet: 
 
Resolved -  
 
That Cabinet agrees to include a minimum grant in line with the previous year for 
Citizens Advice in its 2023/24 Budget Proposals; and; 
 
That Cabinet agrees to work with the Chief Executive of Citizens Advice to explore 
further options of support which could be provided by the Council to help enable the 
service to meet current levels of demand. 
 

 
Signed:…………………………………………… 

 
Date: …………….………………………………………… 

 
Chair of the meeting 

At which the minutes were confirmed 
 

 

Page 70


	Agenda
	4. Confirmation of Minutes
	Council Minutes - 1 December 2022

	7. Minutes of Cabinet
	Cabinet Minutes - 7 December 2022

	8. Minutes of Committees
	Resources OSC Minutes - 20 October 2022
	Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) Minutes - 26 October 2022
	Minutes

	Planning Committee Minutes - 1 November 2022
	Judicial Committee (PH & HC Licensing) Minutes - 21 November 2022
	Commuinties and Wellbeing OSC Minutes - 14 December 2022


